



Handelshøyskolen BI

GRA 19703 Master Thesis

Thesis Master of Science 100% - W

Predefinert infor	masjon				
Startdato:	09-01-2023 09:00 CET	Termin:	202310		
Sluttdato:	03-07-2023 12:00 CEST	Vurderingsform:	Norsk 6-trinns skala (A-F)		
Eksamensform:	Т				
Flowkode:	202310 11184 IN00 W T				
Intern sensor:	(Anonymisert)				
Deltaker Navn:	Erik Marthinussen og Rob	in Riga			

Tittel *:	Narrowing the Intention-Action Gap in Recycling: Effective Governance of the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) - Reverse Syste Relationship			
Navn på veileder *:	Bente Flygansvær			
Inneholder besvarelsen konfidensielt	Nei Kan besvarelsen Ja offentliggjøres?:			
materiale?:				
materiale?:				
materiale?: ruppe Gruppenavn:	(Anonymisert)			
materiale?: ruppe Gruppenavn: Gruppenummer:	(Anonymisert) 323			
materiale?: ruppe Gruppenavn: Gruppenummer: Andre medlemmer i	(Anonymisert) 323			

BI Norwegian Business School Master Thesis

Narrowing the Intention-Action Gap in Recycling: Effective Governance of the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) -Reverse System Relationship

Date of submission: 03.07.2023

Examination code and name:

GRA 19703 Master Thesis

Supervisor:

Bente Flygansvær

Programme:

Master of Science in Business Major in Supply Chain and Operations Management

Authors:

Erik Marthinussen

Robin F. Rigan

Abstract

This thesis explores the governance of the relationship between the endconsumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) and reverse logistics systems. Through an extensive review of literature, it is evident that the relationship between the ECTS and reverse logistics systems is flawed, resulting in suboptimal recycling behavior. The trust mechanism, which is predominantly prioritized, proves to be insufficient in effectively governing this relationship. The literature also highlights the significance of incorporating other control mechanisms such as price and authority for more balanced governance.

The thesis adopts a comprehensive methodology, including a thorough literature review, data collection from municipalities in Norway, and analysis of findings in conjunction with relevant literature. The research aims to contribute to the understanding of effective governance in the ECTS-reverse system relationship, offering insights and recommendations for sustainable waste management strategies.

The proposition put forward in this thesis emphasizes the need for a more effective governance approach to tighten the recycling behavior gap. Trust alone is not enough, and a balanced governance framework with increased utilization of price and authority mechanisms is necessary. By integrating a balanced utilization of price, authority, and trust, waste management systems can incentivize responsible behavior, ensure compliance, and promote positive attitudes towards waste reduction and recycling, ultimately contributing to sustainable waste management. Also, the role of material recycling rate in this thesis is used as an indicator of source sorting efficiency, indicating effective governance.

Furthermore, the thesis proposes two concrete measures for utilizing price and authority. Firstly, it suggests national standardizations and regulations, enhancing authority enforcement. Furthermore, an approach that empowers waste management actors, who are disadvantaged in this relationship, to have greater control and influence over the outcome, as manifested in the material recycling rate. Secondly, the thesis recommends implementing a Pay-As-You-Throw (PAYT) system as a strategy to incentivize the ECTS and address the increased CO2 fee. By linking waste disposal fees to the amount of waste generated, the PAYT-system encourages responsible behavior and source sorting. These measures contribute to a more effective and balanced governance approach, integrating price and authority mechanisms to drive sustainable waste management practices.

Overall, this thesis underscores the importance of a balanced governance approach and the utilization of multiple control mechanisms to enhance source sorting efficiency and promote sustainable waste management. By bridging the gap between recycling intentions and actions, the research aims to contribute to the development of more effective waste management policies and the pursuit of sustainable lifestyles.

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, we are deeply grateful to our supervisor, Bente, for her guidance, encouragement, and continuous support. Her expertise and insightful feedback have been important in shaping the direction of this research, and we could not have done this without her.

We extend our heartfelt appreciation to the participants who willingly dedicated their time and shared their insights for this study. Without their cooperation and willingness to participate, this research would not have been possible.

We would like to acknowledge the support received from our families and friends throughout this entire process. Their unwavering belief in our abilities and their encouragement during challenging times have been a constant source of motivation.

Best regards,

Robin and Erik

Table of contents

1. Introduction				
2. Literature review				
2.1 Reverse logistics systems				
2.1.1 Reverse systems and the ECTS 4				
2.1.2 ECTS characteristics				
2.1.3 Understanding and influencing ECTS behavior				
2.2 Governance mechanisms				
2.2.1 Price				
2.2.2 Authority				
2.2.3 Trust				
2.3 Control mechanisms in waste management				
2.3.1 Price in household waste management				
2.3.2 Authority in household waste management				
2.3.3 Trust in waste management				
2.3.4 Price. authority and trust in household waste management				
2.4 Theoretical Framework				
3. Methodology				
3.1 Research Design				
3.2 Sampling Strategy				
3.3 Interview guide development				
3.4 Participant Selection				
3.5 Data Collection				
3.6 Data Analysis				
3.7 Ensuring Data Validity and Reliability				
4. Results				
4.1 Avfall Sør (Kristansand og Vennesla) 41				
4.1.1 Trust				
4.1.2 Price				
4.1.3 Authority				
4.1.4 Summary 50				
4.2 Oslo				
4.2.1 Trust				
4.2.2 Price				
4.2.3 Authority				
4.2.4 Summary 57				

4.3 Hallingdal Renovasjon (Hol, Ål, Gol, Hemsedal, Nes, Flå og Krødsherad)			
4.3.1 Trust			
4.3.2 Price			
4.3.3 Authority			
4.3.4 Summary			
4.4 Avfallsservice AS (Lyngen, Storfjord, Kåfjord, Skjervøy, Nordreisa og Kvænangen)			
4.4.1 Trust			
4.4.2 Price			
4.4.3 Authority			
4.4.4 Summary			
4.5 ReMidt (Trøndelag & Møre og Romsdal)74			
4.5.1 Trust			
4.5.2 Price			
4.5.3 Authority			
4.5.4 Summary			
4.6 Fosen Renovasjon (Trøndelag)			
4.6.1 Trust			
4.6.2 Price			
4.6.3 Authority			
4.6.4 Summary			
4.7 Overview			
5.0 Discussion			
6. Conclusion			
6.1 Theoretical Implications 109			
6.2 Managerial Implications 110			
6.3 Future research			
6.4 Limitations			
References115			
Appendix132			

1. Introduction

In the age of sustainability and intentional consumerism, efficient waste management plays a crucial role. The European Union's target of achieving a 65% recycling rate by 2035 reflects the global shift in priorities towards more sustainable waste management (Johansson, 2016). However, there are inherent challenges in reaching this target, necessitating further research in the field.

Firstly, it is essential to acknowledge the increasing waste generation resulting from the steady growth in the global population.

"Taking into account the growing population, which in just over ten years between 1999 and 2011 increased by 1 billion people and reached 7 billion people (UN 2015) and is estimated to be 9.7 billion by 2050, the increasing of industrialization and urbanization [1] man can no longer afford to manage waste as waste, but has to use it as a resource" (Johansson, 2016, p.402).

This growing concern for efficient waste management sets the stage for the relevance and urgency of this research.

The transition from a linear take-make-waste model (De los Rios & Charnley, 2017) to a circular economy is a fundamental aspect of the European Green Deal. However, the world's circularity rate remains low at 7.2%, indicating a pressing need for active consumer participation in the reverse logistics process (CGR 2023). The role of the consumers as suppliers in generating volume for the system becomes crucial (Jalil et al.2016). However, they face challenges in terms of low-value products and insufficient compensation for their recycling efforts (Flygansvær et al., 2021).

Climate psychology recognizes that individuals have competing priorities and concerns beyond environmental matters. To address this, the focus should be on modifying individuals' actual behaviors rather than solely increasing awareness (Stoknes, 2015). Despite consumers' positive attitudes towards recycling, studies have revealed a significant gap between intentions and actual behaviors (Flygansvær et al., 2021; Tudor et al., 2007). This disparity emphasizes the need for interventions that modify individuals' behaviors.

The work of Flygansvær et al. (2021) serves as a significant source of inspiration for this study. Their research showed that despite effective nudges, a recycling behavior gap still remained. Given that the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) operates as a supplier within this process (Jalil et al, 2016), the relationship between the reverse logistics system and the ECTS is flawed. The inadequacy of material supply and improper recycling practices by the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) indicate a failure to fulfill their role effectively. Therefore, we wish to investigate how to govern the relationship between the ECTS and reverse logistics systems to enhance source sorting efficiency and promote sustainable waste management. This research is designed to narrow the gap between recycling intentions and actions, address the increasing urgency for sustainable lifestyles, and contribute to the development of more effective waste management policies.

The research question guiding this thesis is:

How can the relationship between the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) and reverse systems be effectively governed to enhance source sorting efficiency and promote sustainable waste management?

To answer this question, the study will explore three control mechanisms: price, authority, and trust, identified by Bradach & Eccles (1989) as mechanisms governing transactions among economic actors. Through a comprehensive examination of the literature, an investigation into these mechanisms within the domain of household waste management, data collection from Norwegian municipalities, and a thorough analysis of the findings in conjunction with relevant literature, this thesis seeks to offer valuable insights into the effective governance of the relationship between the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS) and the reverse supply chain.

2. Literature review

This chapter establishes the theoretical foundations for this thesis. We have delved into reverse logistics literature to comprehend the characteristics of the reverse systems and of the ECTS, as well as recycling behavior and the relationship between the actors. Then, we introduce the theory of governance mechanisms, and present three distinct mechanisms; price, authority, and trust. We examine the existing literature concerning household waste management within the context of governance mechanisms, and explore how these mechanisms might synergize.

2.1 Reverse logistics systems

A reverse logistic system is the set of activities set in place to recycle resources from the end-user, back into production (Barnes, 1982). The collection function is characterized as the start of the reverse process (Jahre, 1995). Inherent supply uncertainty, where the time, amount, and quality of returned goods are unknown before being collected, is another characteristic of a reverse logistics system.(Fleischmann et al, 2000). Hence, the start of the reverse logistics system features a high degree of variability in decision-making, both from a system perspective and from the ECTS. Thereby, the collectionfunction which initiates the reverse logistics system is of particular importance.

The effect of a reverse logistic system is a move from the traditional linear take-make-waste system and a move towards a circular economy (Anderson & Brodin, 2005). The reverse logistics system plays a critical role in recycling by ensuring that sorted household waste is transported to the correct locations to maximize recovery.

Socio-economic factors affecting household participation in recycling, sustainable reverse logistics design, reverse exchange classification for public service supply chain management, and reverse service supply chain all contribute to the reverse logistics system (Jalil et al., 2016). According to Jalil et al. (2016), a symbiotic relationship between reverse logistics and waste systems can produce both environmental and economic benefits. However, for this relationship to be effective, all stakeholders must participate in waste management.

Stakeholder involvement and collaboration are essential for the efficiency of the reverse logistics system (Xie and Breen, 2014 ; Beh et al., 2016). Beh et al. (2016) argues that stakeholder collaboration can lead to a circular economy, while He et al. (2016) adds that a service-oriented waste management approach can enhance stakeholder value and environmental sustainability. Bing et al. (2014) presents a multi-objective optimization model to design reverse logistics networks that minimize costs and environmental impacts, which can improve sustainability and social responsibility. However, a recent study by Drakenstein Municipality in South Africa (Volschenk, 2021) suggests that accessibility rather than cost-effectiveness should be the focus of a reverse logistics system in waste management. The study found that curb-side recycling is the optimal system in South Africa, taking into account ECTS participation, recycling efficiency, and separation rate.

2.1.1 Reverse systems and the ECTS

Upon examining reverse logistics systems, it is evident that stakeholder participation plays a vital role in effectively separating and managing waste through reverse logistics. One interesting aspect to consider is how end consumers become suppliers within the stakeholder relationship in waste management. This idea relates to the concept of encouraging end-consumers to return products to the manufacturer or retailer for recycling or reuse (Jalil et al, 2016).

Jalil et al (2016) says that the end-consumer must become like the first step in the reverse logistics process and help generate volume to the reverse logistics system, and that it constitutes the first part of the reverse logistics system, endconsumer turned supplier (ECTS). The relationship between stakeholders resembles a business-to-business (B2B) system, where the end-consumer acts as a supplier in the supply chain, requiring collaboration between the ECTS and companies to establish a more sustainable supply chain and reduce waste (Beh et al.,2016). Although the consumer does not feel like a supplier and behaves differently from a business, the consumer does not act as a customer either, as the relationship is based on the consumer being a supplier in the waste management supply chain (Zikmund and Stanton, 1971). Therefore, literature discusses how reverse logistics systems could benefit from making the consumer feel like a supplier.

2.1.2 ECTS characteristics

Flygansvær et al. (2021) looked at the different characteristics of ECTS. Most influential is socio-demographic, housing, motivation and knowledge of the ECTS. Characteristics of ECTS influenced by socio-demographic factors, such as age, income, education, and gender, in relation to recycling behavior have yielded contradictory findings in the literature. (Shrum et al., 1994; Rousta et al., 2015; Monnot et al., 2014)

However, it is important to note that recent research suggests a shifting perspective regarding the impact of socio-demographic factors on recycling behavior, indicating that their influence may be diminishing. In opposition, the housing situation of ECTS emerges**mo** as a more influential characteristic (Jalil et al., 2016). The type of housing, size, number of occupants, and other factors associated with the housing environment significantly affect recycling behavior.

Additionally, the accessibility and convenience of the recycling system, along with the availability of appropriate recycling equipment, play a crucial role in shaping ECTS behavior (Bernstad, 2014). Furthermore, motivation and knowledge are important characteristics influencing recycling behavior. Motivation, whether internal or external, has a profound effect on ECTS engagement in recycling. Schultz (1999) states that external motivation is

influenced by social norms, while internal motivation stems from personal values and attitudes. The absence of knowledge can hinder progress, but sharing information, while not as powerful as motivating individuals, can still play a role in enhancing recycling behavior (Schultz, 1999).

Barnes (1982) states that the incentives for the ECTS to act as a commercial intermediary in the reverse logistics system is weak. Brodin and Anderson (2008) points to the fact that the ECTS are not economically compensated for their recycling efforts, and rather than being compensated for said efforts, they are required to pay for them through fees (Halldórsson et al., 2019). Flygansvær et al (2021) says that due to this a paradox occurs, in which the ECTS are expected to fulfill an important role in the reverse logistics process, but neither feels like one nor being treated like one.

2.1.3 Understanding and influencing ECTS behavior

To understand recycling behavior amongst the ECTS is detrimental to knowing how we can move forward to a more sustainable future. In order for us to use waste as a resource and not just see it as a troublesome exogenous factor of human life we need to make sure it is properly disposed of.

"(...) man can no longer afford to manage waste as waste, but has to use it as a resource" (Johansson, K. 2016, p.402).

People are usually positive towards recycling, but there is a gap between what they say and do. They have busy schedules and other more pressing concerns in their daily life, and therefore recycling falls down the priority list (Stoknes, 2015).

To influence the ECTS to act as a part of the reverse logistics process, and hence feel like one, understanding how to impact their behavior is necessary. Johansson (2016) did research on understanding recycling behavior. She concluded the research by pointing out some important principles: designing recycling facilities as close to the recycler as possible, knowledge among the ECTS about how and where to recycle, and lastly, working on establishing a deeper understanding of the environment and the impact of recycling for motivational gain. Meanwhile, a research in the UK on hospital workers' waste behaviors found that their own personal beliefs about the benefits of recycling were the main predictor for their recycling behavior (Tudor et al, 2007).

How can governments influence the ECTS to act a certain way without forcing them or drastically changing incentives? Something that researchers have suggested is nudging. It builds on behavioral economics and psychology (Stoknes, 2015). Thaler and Sunstein (2008) define a nudge as any aspect of design that alters people's behavior in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their economic incentives. In situations where consumers need to exhibit a specific behavior but lack sufficient motivation to do so, it can be beneficial to employ certain strategies. Recycling serves as a prime example of an action that municipalities desire consumers to embrace, even if it may not be their top priority.

There is not one default way to nudge the population, and there is not necessarily a "right" way to do so. It is important to know the characteristics of the given situation and the group to be nudged to determine suitable nudges (Zhang and Wang, 2020). Flygansvær et al (2021) investigated the effect of nudging. They chose three different nudges, namely the social norm nudge, the distance nudge, and the availability nudge . The social norm nudge saw the effect of activating social norms to affect motivation, where they told the consumers about the importance of recycling as well as telling them about their neighbors recycling behavior. The distance nudge revolved around reducing the distance in which the ECTS had to travel to recycle properly. Also, they moved glass and metal containers closer to residual and paper waste. Their third intervention was the access to sorting equipment. They supplied participants with different colored bags for different types of waste, including a reusable bag for metal and glass. Flygansvær et al. (2021) discovered that through the social norm nudge in promoting food waste recycling, the experimental group showed a significant improvement in recycling behavior. Furthermore, they argued that the results support the use of social norm nudges to promote desired recycling behaviors. They also found that the distance nudge successfully influenced recycling behavior for glass and metal waste, as demonstrated by the reduction in residual waste and the self-reported increase in quantities. Lastly, the study confirmed the effectiveness of the availability nudge in promoting positive recycling behavior. The findings highlighted the importance of equipment availability and its role in encouraging individuals to improve their recycling practices.

Behavioral psychology investigates the effects of incentives, and their possible negative and positive effects. An issue related to monetary incentives has been highlighted, specifically how they can affect individuals' intrinsic motivation and the external motivation they derive from financial rewards (Druckman et al, 2011). Furthermore, an experiment revealed that offering monetary incentives for blood donations can actually decrease contribution levels (Titmuss, 1971). Consequently, it is important to understand and review behavioral psychology theories, particularly when considering or designing incentive-based reverse logistic systems.

The concept of social norms have varied definitions in literature, involving individual beliefs and evaluations of others in a social context. It involves the cognitive structure of these beliefs as well as the actual behavior and actions that are shared and accepted within a social group. A key distinction is made between descriptive norms, which relate to common behavior, and injunctive norms, which involve approved behavior. (Wallen, 2017).

Farrow et al. (2017) examined the existing evidence on the effectiveness of social norms in promoting pro-environmental behaviors. The authors analyzed different conceptualizations of social norms and provide an overview of studies in experimental economics and social psychology that have investigated the impact of social norm interventions on pro-environmental behavior. From their review of the impacts of various types of social norm interventions on pro-

environmental behaviors, they found that these interventions are effective at inducing significant changes in behavior, and that descriptive norms seem to demonstrate particularly consistent effects in this regard.

2.2 Governance mechanisms

We have reviewed the characteristics of the reverse system and the ECTS, and introduced theoretical and empirical literature on their behavior and the interaction between them. Now, we will look at theory on how to govern inter-, and intra-firm relations.

Hierarchy and market mechanisms have long been viewed as alternative mechanisms for governing and allocating resources (Coase, 1937 & Bradach & Eccles, 1989). Bradach & Eccles (1989) present three independent control mechanisms that govern economic transactions between actors: price, authority, and trust. Price reflects the market mode of exchange, authority reflects the hierarchical dimensions, and trust, on the other hand, refers to the use of social norms and personal relationships (behavioral dimensions). Price, which can be used as a control mechanism where employees are incentivized by financial rewards, authority where managers have the power to make decisions and enforce rules, and trust where employees feel a sense of community and shared values. "(...) For instance, price and authority are often played off each other within firms, while trust and price are sometimes intertwined to control transactions between firms" (Bradach & Eccles, 1989, p.97).

Rather than viewing market and hierarchy as mutually exclusive control mechanisms (Coase, 1937), they suggest that price, authority and trust are independent and can be combined in a variety of ways. According to Streeck & Schmitter (1985), such a view on governance mechanisms is also consistent with macro level models of social orders. Furthermore, they argued that however evident it may be that one of these three mechanisms are dominant for a specific group or at a particular point in time, it is widely accepted that modern societies, polities, and economies can only be comprehensively analyzed by considering a combination of these mechanisms or models (Streeck & Schmitter, 1985).

Bradach & Eccles (1989) asserted that in the real world, price, authority, and trust interact in various ways. They described these interactions as "overlapping, embedded, intertwined, juxtaposed, and nested" (p.116). Furthermore, they suggested that the analysis should not solely focus on the individuals transactions, but rather on the entire structure's dynamics, as the transactional contexts can impact the control that can be exerted on individual transactions. Adler (2001) supports this notion, contending that there are three primary forms of organization: market, hierarchy, and community. While the market form is based on price mechanism, and the hierarchy form is based on authority, the community form relies on trust. Furthermore, asserting that real-world organizational structures tend to incorporate a blend of all three ideal-typical forms and depend on a corresponding mixture of price, hierarchy, and trust mechanisms.

Haugland & Reve (1994) adopted the definition of Bradach & Eccles (1989), and empirically explored combinations of the governance models. The authors focus on how inter-firm transactions are governed by different combinations of market incentives (price), hierarchical mechanisms (authority), and social mechanisms (trust). They wanted to discuss how social dimensions can complement transaction cost economics, and to formulate a model that portrays the governance of inter-firm transactions within distribution channels as a combination of price, authority, and trust. In their research paper they posited that price, authority, and trust serve as three distinct governance mechanisms that can be combined in various ways. Also, they argued that a comprehensive understanding of effective governance cannot be derived solely from transactional characteristics but must also take into account relational factors (Haugland & Reve, 1994).

Further in our paper we will also adopt price (market), authority (hierarchy) and trust (relational) as the three mechanisms of governance.

2.2.1 Price

Bradach & Eccles (1989) states that price reflects the market mode of exchange - by this recognizing that the price of a good or service is determined by supply

and demand, and that prices reflect the exchange value of goods and services. It is a mechanism by which a company uses market transactions to allocate and coordinate activities between business units. In essence, the business units within the company are treated as independent entities that must compete in the market for resources.

In addition, Bradach & Eccles (1989) describe how the concept of "price", also known as market incentives, fits into the framework of transaction cost economics. Haugland & Reve (1994) further elaborate that transaction cost economics examines the use of market incentives and hierarchical mechanisms as two possible approaches for structuring buyer-seller relationships. This theory seeks to identify efficient governance structures based on specific transactional characteristics.

Williamson (1991) says that the mechanism of price or market incentives serves to provide relevant information to the actors involved, allowing them to make necessary adjustments, and that in situations where buyer and seller belong to the same organization, coordination is more intentional in nature. Transactions between departments within an organization are governed by administrative procedures and controls, with prices being determined by such procedures. Any necessary adjustments that need to be made by the departments will be carried out using established rules and procedures. Thus, market transactions are governed by market incentives, while transactions within an organization are governed by administrative apparatus (Haugland & Reve, 1994).

However, Bradach & Eccles (1989) believe that price mechanisms can be a part of authority hierarchies, and authority mechanisms can limit independent exchange partners in the market. An example of this could be in a modern multidivisional firm, which is widely recognized for introducing features of markets into hierarchies (Bettis, 1980; Page and Hooper, 1981). Thus, implying that depending on the firm or organization, a combination of the two control mechanisms price and authority is probable between organizations and within them.

2.2.2 Authority

Authority can be understood as a control mechanism that is dependent on the use of power or influence to enforce regulations, decisions, and rules (Bradach & Eccles, 1989). Haugland and Reve (1994) conception of authority relates to the dependence on organizational mechanisms, including rules and procedures. They argue that authority refers to the hierarchical mode of exchange that relies on administrative procedures and control. Furthermore, they assess the extent to which one party exclusively possesses the ability to determine trade terms and the degree to which standard operating procedures for supervision are implemented. Also, claim that authority is positively correlated with uncertainty and frequency, due to the ability authority has to guide towards the desirable results (Haugland & Reve, 1994).

Coase (1937) summarized his argument: "The operation of a market costs something and by forming an organisation and allowing some authority (an "entrepreneur") to direct the resources, certain marketing costs are saved." (p.392). Coase argued that the costs of using the market to allocate resources and coordinate economic activity can be high, as it requires individuals to search for suitable trading partners, negotiate and enforce contracts, and resolve disputes. These transaction costs can be reduced by the creation of a firm (the entrepreneur), which can provide an internal organization that facilitates coordination and reduces uncertainty, also seen by Haugland and Reve (1994) to be the effective use of authority between trade partners.

Drawing from transaction cost economics, there is an argument that when there is asset specificity, uncertainty, and high frequency, an authority-dominated governance vector is necessary. This is because there is always a risk of opportunistic behavior from trading partners, and actors require safeguards to minimize this risk. Authority can serve as an effective means to reduce such actions. As a result, an authority-dominated governance vector is also relevant in situations where there is a high likelihood of opportunism, as argued by Haugland and Reve (1994).

Based on literature, there is some support for a relationship between experience and an authority-dominated vector. As mentioned above, we found an empirical association between uncertainty and an authority-dominated governance vector. The results do not allow the conclusion that higher levels of uncertainty should be handled by authority. It is possible that relationships relying on trust have been able to reduce perceived uncertainty by developing relational norms and personal relationships (Haugland and Reve, 1994).

Their results suggest that in stable relationships or long-term contracting, trust is a dominant governance mechanism. This contradicts transaction cost analysis. Further, they provide two possible explanations for this result. First, in situations where exchange partners remain independent, the actors face certain limitations regarding what authority mechanisms can be used. Further, when dealing with two separate organizations, and compared to a single organization, possible authority mechanisms are limited. They stated that this may particularly lead to limitations in governing by authority (Haugland and Reve, 1994).

Authority as a concept of control has been discussed for a long time. Back in 1904, Max Weber, described authority as "the probability that a command will be obeyed by a given group of persons.". He discusses in his article, "The Concept of Authority", that authority is seen in 3 forms: traditional, charismatic, and rational-legal. Traditional authority is based on customs and traditions; Charismatic authority is based on the personality and qualities of the leader; Rational-legal authority is based on a formal system of rules and laws that are created and enforced through established procedures (Wallimann, 1977).

John R. Searle provides an examination of authority in "the construction of social reality" (1983) and argues that the concept is a socially constructed phenomenon created and maintained by linguistic acts (Kind, A.,2001). He distinguishes between deontic and institutional authority. Deontic authority is based on social norms and rules that create obligations and duties for individuals, while institutional authority is based on the structures and procedures of institutions such as governments, courts, and corporations. He also mentioned his belief in how deontic authority can be strengthened by

institutional authority as these are interconnected. Institutional authority establishes a structure for creating and enforcing social norms, while deontic authority reinforces the legitimacy of institutional authority by integrating social norms as moral obligations and responsibilities.

John Howard Schütz explored in 2007, the origin of authority and defined it as institutionalized or formal power, which grants the right to wield power. Schütz emphasized the close association between authority and legitimacy, mandate, and office, which all contribute to its "right" to power. He argued that the source of authority extends beyond an implicit source based on the reasons for submitting to authority. Rather, the source of authority is rooted in the "call" individuals feel towards social organizations that inspire obedience and long-lasting influence. This "call" emerges even before the community is formed, and its power lies in the command that transcends personal relationships and benefits the community as a whole. Schütz referred to the source of authority as the "actor".

2.2.3 Trust

Trust is a more general control activity that is less specific than price and authority but has the benefit of being less intrusive and costly, due to the mechanism being built on social norms and personal relationships (Haugland & Torger, 1994). Arrow (1974) summarizes the obvious advantages of trust as a control mechanism: "Trust is an important lubricant of a social system. It is extremely efficient; it saves people a lot of trouble to have a fair degree of reliance on other people's word."(p.23, as cited in Bradach & Eccles, 1989). Trust as a concept is defined as "The probability that he/she will perform an action that is beneficial or at least not detrimental to us is high enough for us to consider engaging in some form of cooperation with him" (Gambetta, 1988, p.217, as cited in Bradach & Eccles, 1989). Trust is heavily viewed in business decisions as different stakeholders depend on each other and are strongly affected by different outcomes. It is therefore interesting to see how trust works in different combinations as the effect of trust is correlated to how the actor is impacted, and which efforts are needed to complete the task. To see the effect of how trust works in a system, it is important to discuss Lewis & Weigert (1985) who sketch how the cognitive, emotional, and behavioral elements of trust combine to form a unitary social experience. Bradach & Eccles (1989) also examine how (a) diffuse social norms of obligation and cooperation, and (b) personal relationships that overlap with economic exchanges provide the basis for trust.

Trust is a complex construct that has been extensively examined by sociologists. Talcott Parsons (1963) emphasized the significance of trust as a vital element to ensure the smooth functioning of society. Trust reduces uncertainties and risks and facilitates the creation of relationships. Georg Simmel (2004) highlighted the cognitive and affective dimensions of trust, emphasizing that it is founded on both cognitive and emotional confidence in the reliability and competence of the trusted party, as well as an emotional bond with them. This emotional bond can lead to significant emotional investments in relationships, given the belief that they are safe and reliable.

Luhmann (1982) and Heineman (1984) also stressed the importance of trust in social systems. Luhmann (1982) stated that trust is a necessary precondition for social communication and cooperation, while Heineman (1984) argued that trust is an essential element of democratic governance. Furthermore, Lewis & Weigert (1985) suggested that trust functions as the underlying assumption of social order. The emotional, cognitive, and behavioral dimensions of trust contribute to a situation where individuals are willing to take risks with the expectation that others will act competently and dutifully. Trust is a fundamental social reality that impacts various aspects of human behavior, such as lying, family exchanges, money attitudes, and court cases.

Eccles (1981) conducted a study on 26 residential homebuilders and discovered that the relationships between general contractors and subcontractors were typically stable and enduring over extended periods of time, with competitive bidding only occurring infrequently. This type of bilateral arrangement was referred to as the "quasifirm" by Eccles. It's worth noting that general contractors do not rely solely on trust as they periodically evaluate the market and request bids from other subcontractors. Additionally, the transactions in this industry are characterized by relatively low levels of asset specificity, which makes switching subcontractors relatively easy. However, the presence of market prices helps in fostering trust and developing stable exchange relationships (Eccles, 1981).

2.3 Control mechanisms in waste management

Literature focuses on inter- and intra-firm transactions and governance (Bradach & Eccles, 1989; Haugland & Reve, 1994), we have argued that these governance models also apply to the relationship between waste management companies and the ECTS. Thereby, the conclusion that these factors can be combined, and that effective governance cannot be derived from analysis of transactional characteristics alone, but that relational factors should also be included (Haugland & Reve, 1994) also applies to our case between ECTS and the renovation companies..

Hence, we wish to further elaborate on how waste management companies and other stakeholders might have applied or combined these three governance mechanisms. However, first we would like to separate each of the three governance mechanisms and identify separate measures within each of them to get an overview of how these mechanisms might divert from each other.

2.3.1 Price in household waste management

Price is about incentives or disincentives to motivate organizations or individuals to act in a particular way (Bradach & Eccles, 1989; Haugland & Reve, 1994). In the context of ECTS and renovation companies, price is used as a tool to incentivize sustainable behavior. According to Kamenica, E. (2012) monetary incentives are powerful tools for motivating people. Reviews of empirical evidence in firms have demonstrated that, in a variety of settings, incentives improve performance (Prendergast, 1999). Incentives have proven to be efficient to increase productivity within a firm. Lazear (2000) conducted a study to analyze how the implementation of piece-rate compensation, as opposed to fixed salaries, affected the productivity of workers in an auto-glass company. According to his findings, the introduction of incentives resulted in a 44% increase in output per worker.

Kamenica (2012) states that monetary incentives do work, and especially for tasks that people do not want to do. However, behavioral economists argue that monetary incentives may crowd out intrinsic motivation. In a model described by Benabou & Tirole (2003), a principal and an agent have access to some private information regarding the agent's level of interest in a particular assignment. If the task is going to be less enjoyable, the principal might offer additional compensation. Therefore, uninformed agents will rationally anticipate that when they are better compensated for the work, they will like it less, and as a result, they will be less driven to complete it. Given that recycling is a social norm and that there is an environmental issue, recycling may be viewed as a prosocial behavior.

According to the model put forth by Benabou & Tirole (2006), altruism is heterogenous, and people are concerned with the opinions of others regarding their level of altruism. In such a situation, adding a financial incentive to prosocial behavior lessens the degree to which doing so genuinely indicates altruism. As a result, financial incentives may cause people to be less eager to do good. There is convincing empirical evidence for this mechanism provided by Ariely et al (2009). Clearly, when incentivizing recycling behavior, one must consider the aforementioned difficulties related to prosocial behavior and intrinsic motivation. However, different incentive systems have been implemented around the world.

2.3.1.1 Pay-As-You-Throw (PAYT)

There are different ways to incentivize wanted recycling behavior. A typical way to do so is through monetary incentives. A system called pay-as-you-

throw, or PAYT, has been adopted around the world (Alzamora & Barros, 2020). PAYT systems apply the polluter pays principle and shared responsibility concept by identifying citizens as one of the actors involved in the activities that generate urban waste. Thus, citizens are responsible for the costs that their part in the chain of consumption generates (Batllevell & Hanf, 2008). Furthermore, Batllevell & Hanf (2008) states that PAYT-systems incentivize participation in waste policies by linking waste collection charges to the amount of waste generated. This created an economic incentive where citizens pay for the amount of pollution they produce. Also, this is believed to treat all citizens equitably under the same cost distribution principle of the PPP (Batllevell & Hanf, 2008).

PAYT systems come in various forms but can generally be classified into two categories: those that charge based on weight and those that charge based on volume. Alzamora & Barros (2020) did a review of municipal waste management charging methods in different countries, and said the following about the different versions of PAYT:

"In the schemes based on weight, the solid waste are collected and weighed by an equipped truck. (...). The schemes based on volume are more common, but also there are more forms it can take. One of them is the bags/stickers, in which the user buys "official" bags and/or stickers from the local trade and the collectors are advised to collect only these official bags or stickers; imbued in the prices of bags/stickers are the cost of collection, transportation and final disposal services.(...) A second volume-based scheme is the container, a kind of monthly subscription, in which the user chooses the volume or number of containers he or she will use for collection, and pays according to the selected quantities." (Alzamora & Barros, 2020, p. 48)"

Werf et al (2020) did a study on household food waste disposal in Toronto. Their goal was to gain insight into the current disposal of food waste, and to help develop and implement effective interventions to reduce food waste. They did a four-season waste characterization study with 200 single family households across eight neighborhoods in the city of Toronto, which provides its residents with a pay-as-you-throw program. The program included a choice of four garbage cart sizes with increasing fees, and several free recycling or organic waste bags. In their studies they concluded that Toronto's PAYT waste program had been effective at diverting food waste into the green cart (rather than ordinary garbage bags), but that it did not have any effect on reducing its generation. Also, they added that they believed implementing a PAYT weightbased system rather than volume-based, that it might have helped reduce food waste.

Morlok et al (2017) analyzed a PAYT system through a case study from the German County of Ascaffenburg. They covered 32 municipalities with 173,000 inhabitants over almost 20 years of implementation.

Aschaffenburg County introduced a weight-based collection system for residual waste, bio waste, and bulky waste, alongside a separate paper collection from all households. The primary rationale for implementing a weight-based charging mechanism was to ensure fairness based on the principles of user and polluter pays. The study's findings demonstrated a marked improvement in waste management performance in the county after the introduction of a weight-based PAYT system in 1997. Notably, there was a substantial increase in recyclable waste collection and a significant reduction on residual waste disposal. As a result, the county achieved an impressive collection rate for recyclables of up to 86%, surpassing the average performance of a PAYT system, which is typically around 70%. According to the researchers, the key distinguishing factors in this specific case were the utilization of a weighing system, the provision of a comprehensive infrastructure for collecting recyclable waste, and a high level of environmental awareness and active citizen support.

They concluded that the County of Aschaffenburg's adoption of PAYT represents a leading environmental practice, as the weight-based approach resulted in notably elevated rates of recycling compared to other municipalities and counties. Although the PAYT system resulted in very minimal residual waste, they also noted that it did not appear to have a substantial impact on the overall quantity of waste produced and handled by the county over the long term. To summarize, their findings suggest that the implementation of PAYT alone is insufficient for achieving significant waste reduction. Instead, effective waste prevention policies at the national or regional level, such as product policies, waste prevention plans, tax regulations and other measures, are necessary.

Literature states that PAYT systems have a positive effect on the recycling of household waste. However, some researchers believed it would also help decrease the amount of waste generated. As Morlok et al (2017) stated, the system does not show a significant decrease in the amount of waste generated. This was also the case with Werf et al (2020), which showed that there was no decrease in food waste despite a higher recycling rate. The aforementioned researchers, along with many others, seem to believe that there should be a correlation between a higher recycling rate and better recycling efforts, and decrease in waste generation in general. However, this does not seem to be the case. However, Dahlen and Lagerkvist (2010) stated that there was on average 20% less household waste per capita where the policy was applied compared to the other cities. Surprisingly, they also said that none of the differences could be explained by higher recycling rates as there was no significant difference in the amount of separated recyclables per capita compared to other cities.

Furthermore, there have been concerns about how the ECTS would adapt to the introduction of a PAYT system. As previously noted, Emmanouil et al (2022) reported that the implementation of the new system in Greece was generally well-received. However, it is possible that this positive reception was not due to the public's enthusiasm for a PAYT-system, but rather their dissatisfaction with the current system. Brown and Johnstone (2014) did research with 4000 households across 4 countries as to how the ECTS responded to the policy. They found that respondents in households who generated relatively more waste compared to others were less supportive of PAYT, but that experience with PAYT increases the ECTS support for these systems. They did, however, note that the ECTS support for environmental taxes and charges can increase through exposure.

2.3.1.2 Other monetary incentivized recycling plans

Rewarding the ECTS for recycling household waste, like compensation, is not as widely adopted around the world as a PAYT scheme. A reward is a consequence that an individual receives for completing a task or performing well, which strengthens the likelihood of the behavior being repeated in the future (Blaukopf and DiGirolamo, 2007). Reward leads to motivated behavior. However, behavioral economists have pointed to the fact that people are loss averse.

"A number of cognitive researchers, led by Daniel Kahneman, have shown that we are consistently too loss averse. People care more about losing a dollar than gaining a dollar. About twice as much." (Stoknes, 2015, p. 58).

By this, the PAYT system should have a greater effect on recycling behavior than a compensation or a reward. Nonetheless, Jin et al (2020) investigated value compensation models in waste recycling in an industrial park. They found that government value compensation can improve the reuse of waste and increase the environmental benefits and profits of the companies involved in waste recycling. Although, this research was conducted in an industrial park with companies rather than end-consumers, and a different type of waste.

Smart incentive-based recycling system

Jin et al (2020) suggested a smart incentive-based recycling system that is designed for household waste. It is their belief that incentive mechanisms can be effective in increasing resident participation in waste recycling activities. They suggest that traditional recycling strategies, which rely on law enforcement and public awareness, may not be as effective. Additionally, the authors note that smart bins and online systems alone may not be enough to motivate residents to recycle. The survey conducted by Martin et al (2006) suggests that many householders are willing to participate in recycling activities but are discouraged by unreliable and inconvenient local recycling services. Suggesting that rewarding residents for their recycling efforts could help to maintain their enthusiasm for the activity. Zhou et al (2021) believed that incentive-based recycling experiences would encourage residents to gain more perceived benefits from recycling activities. According to Noorasikin et al (2018), consumer perceived value plays a crucial role in motivating sustainable recycling behavior. In a study by Shaw and Maynard (2008) researchers explored the use of incentives to encourage household waste recycling. The majority of respondents showed a favorable attitude towards community-based rewards and local taxation rebates.

Furthermore, the authors noted that a conventional recycling system based on incentives involves three primary channels for collecting household waste:

- Residents can sell their recyclables to door-to-door recycling collectors
- Residents can bring their recyclables to collection stations and exchange them for cash incentives
- Residents can place their recyclables in designated smart recycling bins and receive incentives in return

According to Shaw & Maynard (2008), the smart incentive-based system retains the original three channels for collecting household waste, while introducing significant changes in the central database and the addition of dataanalytics. In Shanghai, an existing basic incentive-based recycling system was enhanced to showcase the effectiveness of the newly designed system. The authors observed that the smart system offered a convenient service not only for residents but also for other stakeholders in the waste recycling process. As a result, the system helped to boost household recycling rates and further reduce the amount of household waste in cities.

The Green Account mode

Xiao et al (2020) mentions the "Green Account mode" which started in 2009. It is an innovative point redemption scheme to encourage citizens to sort household waste into dry and wet waste in Shanghai. Households can earn 10 points twice a day by properly sorting their disposable waste at collection points. The scheme operates like a bank, keeping track of households' waste behavior and assigning points accordingly. By accumulating these points, households can redeem them for daily necessities, such as parking tickets, food, and beverages, on the Green Account online platform.

The authors pointed to implementation problems in the early stages. Firstly, the point of the recording rule is inefficient as citizens can earn more points by throwing less waste more frequently. In addition, some food packaging is interfused into wet waste easily, hence, the quality of wet waste becomes lower. Additionally, complex personal relationships can affect point recording and make the scheme less attractive. Also, point redemption was deemed inconvenient, with only 40% of the 1.2 billion points recorded were exchanged.

They reported that the Shanghai Municipal Green and Appearance Administration Bureau addressed the implementation problems by adding more automatic kiosks in various communities to make point redemption easier. They also implemented stricter supervising rules to ensure fairness in point recording. Despite its flaws, Xiao et al. (2020) noted that the Green Account Program has established a strong foundation for municipal solid waste (MSW) sorting regulation and is expected to play a crucial role in complementing the mandatory MSW sorting efforts.

2.3.2 Authority in household waste management

Haugland and Reve (1994) see authority as the set of rules and guidelines implemented by the actor. In the context of household waste management it is the implementation of guidelines, regulations and rules provided by authorities. An example is Norway from 1. January 2023 has implemented that all waste made from households and companies are to be sorted for material recycling and reuse (Miljødepartementet., 2022).

On a bigger scale we see that directive 2008/98/EC, established by the directorate-general for environment in the European Union, created a comprehensive framework for waste treatment in the EU. This framework aims to protect the environment and human health by implementing regulations for

waste management, recovery, and recycling, with a focus on reducing resource pressure and promoting reuse. The directive was transposed into EU member laws 12. December 2010. (European Parliament and Council, 2008)

The law implements the polluter pays principle, holding waste producers responsible for recycling costs. It emphasizes waste prevention, reuse, recycling, and other recovery methods over disposal. Member states must set targets to reduce waste and increase recycling. The law also establishes monitoring and reporting systems. EU regulations have influenced countries like Australia, which has set targets to reduce waste generation, increase recycling, and ban waste exports (National Waste Policy, 2023). The law promotes responsibility, standards, and sustainability in waste management. (Directive 2008/98/EC, 2008)

Overall, the EU waste management law uses authority as a control mechanism to ensure a reduction in pollution and improvement in human health. It establishes guidelines to ensure responsibility and standards are met, while also promoting a more sustainable approach to waste management (European Parliament and Council, 2008).

In response to increasing environmental awareness, the Irish government has implemented bylaws that apply to all households, apartments, and commercial premises. To comply with these regulations, participants must either prove they have a contract with an authorized waste collector or demonstrate regular use of an authorized waste facility. The goal of these bylaws is to ensure that everyone in Ireland contributes to recycling their waste in an environmentally acceptable manner, that waste collectors are authorized, waste is correctly separated, and to reduce illegal dumping and backyard burning. Failure to comply may result in a fixed fee of \notin 75, issued by local authorities, and a fine of up to \notin 2,500 upon conviction.

In managed apartment complexes, the management company is responsible for providing adequate containers and proper disposal paperwork, while each citizen is responsible for separating recyclable waste from food and residual waste. The implementation of these rules and regulations is aimed at encouraging citizens to contribute to meeting the climate challenge, improving the quantity and quality of recyclable materials collected, reducing the amount of waste sent to landfill or incineration, and helping to conserve the finite resources of our planet (Mywaste, 2019).

Another example is the deposit refund-tax in the US. The deposit-refund tax is a system that brings society to the optimal level of waste production. Economists are interested in making consumers internalize the disposal costs and encouraging the correct disposal through subsidization. (Ashenmiller, 2010).

Also, Ashenmiller (2010) investigates whether bottle recycling laws, which increase the incomes of low-wage workers, have the added effect of reducing petty crime rates. Their findings suggest that cities in states with bottle laws experience an average 11% decrease in petty crime rates compared to non-bottle law states due to being able to increase household income from depositing bottles.

In a study conducted by Ishimura (2022), the effectiveness of a policy aimed at promoting municipal domestic recycling of plastic waste in Japan was examined. The research indicated that this policy, known as the CPRL, had a greater impact on recycling volume compared to policies targeted at households. The findings also emphasize the significance of municipal-level policies in facilitating the recycling of post-consumer plastic waste, alongside initiatives focused on recycling in households.

According to Evison & Read (2001) recycling of household waste in the UK is one of the main focuses of attention in terms of waste policies and strategies. The UK Government is dedicated to improving recycling rates through various reforms. These include enhancing consistency in household recycling collections in England, implementing a deposit return scheme for drinks containers in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland, and reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system by implementing extended producer responsibility for packaging. (DAERA, 2019). Viscusi et al (2023) examined the impact of state recycling laws and deposit laws on recycling behavior using data from a national panel of 1,498 households that relocated between states. By comparing recycling rates before and after interstate moves, the study provides a quasi-experimental analysis. The findings indicate that moving to states with deposit laws for beverage containers resulted in a 41% increase in the number of material types recycled, compared to the national average recycling rates. Stringent recycling laws also had a positive effect, albeit smaller, increasing the number of materials recycled by 9%, with glass recycling experiencing the largest boost of 17%. Conversely, relocating from states with deposit laws to states without such laws led to a 13% decrease in the number of materials recycled. Moving away from states with stringent laws showed statistically significant effects only for plastic recycling, which decreased by 12%.

In conclusion, Viscusi et al (2023) stated that states considering the implementation of recycling promotion efforts should recognize the constructive role of both stricter legal regimes and deposit policies. While both policies are significant, deposit policies have a more influential incentive effect. It is important to note that the impact of recycling laws and deposit policies is not dependent on each other, meaning that adopting both policies does not diminish or enhance the effects of the other. The impacts of both interventions are substantial and have an additive effect on recycling behavior.

2.3.3 Trust in waste management

As mentioned previously, trust is a more general control mechanism that is built on social norms and personal relationships (Haugland & Torger, 1994). In the context of waste management, trust describes the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse system. As a governing mechanism, it can be how municipalities and waste management companies try to nudge the population to better recycling behavior (Flygansvær et al, 2021), the development of mutual trust in the relationship, or even establishing positive recycling behavior through social norms and other social activities.

Mintz & Kurman (2019) aimed to understand the influence of individual-level variables on recycling behavior in a cross-cultural context. Specifically, they

examined the role of social norms and perceived behavioral control as factors that may moderate or mediate the relationship between culture and reported recycling behavior. The survey was conducted among 172 Jewish and Muslim-Bedouin residents in a rural regional council in Israel. Participants completed scales measuring social norms, perceived behavioral control, and reported recycling behavior. The findings indicated significant cross-cultural differences, with higher reported recycling among Jewish residents compared to Muslim-Bedouin residents. Perceived behavioral control had a similar impact on recycling for both groups. Social norms had a stronger influence on recycling behavior among Muslim-Bedouin residents compared to Jewish residents, but there was no significant interaction effect between culture and social norms. Both social norms and perceived behavioral control played a mediating role in the relationship between culture and recycling behavior.

According to Mintz & Kurman (2019), their research emphasizes the integration of culture into models explaining pro-environmental behavior, particularly social norms and perceived behavioral control. From a practical standpoint, the findings suggest the need for culturally tailored messages to promote pro-environmental behavior in diverse communities. It highlights the importance of incorporating normative messages and information to enhance perceived behavioral control in recycling initiatives for better population cooperation. Effective public awareness and cooperation are crucial for successful and cost-effective recycling programs.

In 2013, Deo Pentayya conducted a survey in the UK to explore public trust in waste management services and institutions. The survey revealed the complexity of trust as a concept in waste management, and identified dependent factors for trust. Pentayya found that trust is heavily influenced by perceived independence, accountability, competence, and the sympathetic basis of information sources. In waste management, it was particularly important to use different sources of information to balance perspectives, as no single source was considered independently trustworthy. The findings of the survey demonstrated how trust can be used to reduce the extent of management conducted behind closed doors, force disclosure of information, and provide

people with an opportunity to balance information from different sources, ultimately leading to a positive effect on the efficiency of the reverse logistic system. The article also highlights the need to view and understand trust as a concept in order to repair and avoid the effects of distrust.

In 2020, Jiesper Pedersen conducted an anthropological case study in five Copenhagen apartment buildings to investigate the connection between trust and pro-environmental behavior in waste management. The study found that residents' trust in the waste management system was influenced by their perceptions of its reliability, transparency, and fairness, and that a lack of trust could hinder engagement in pro-environmental actions such as sorting and separation. The study recommends multiple approaches to establish trust in waste management, including improving communication, information sharing, and accountability. Targeted awareness campaigns and measures to enhance the transparency and fairness of the system are essential to achieve this. Ultimately, building trust is essential for achieving long-term sustainable behavior change in waste management and other environmental concerns.

We can also draw a strong relevance to different recycling systems in Norway. By incorporating trust as a control activity, the municipalities in Norway trust the actor will recycle as the system intends. We see that trust is often used in the combination of nudging. In Oslo, the system works by giving out free, different-colored, garbage bags and trusting the actor will recycle correctly. Nudging is used to lessen the effort of recycling for the actor and trust is used as the glue to make sure the system works (Flygansvær, 2021).

2.3.4 Price. authority and trust in household waste management

Previously, we introduced the three control mechanisms and discussed Bradach & Eccles' (1989) theory on how they can be employed in conjunction with each other. We also examined each mechanism individually in relation to recycling and household waste. In this next section, we aim to demonstrate through empirical evidence how these mechanisms are integrated in reverse systems, as reported in literature.

Morlok et al (2017) emphasized the significance of social factors (e.g.,public opinion, social norms, knowledge level, attitude) when implementing a successful PAYT system. In 2022, Emmanouil et al. (2022) explored the extent of public awareness about PAYT systems in Greece. The researchers wanted to clarify how individuals perceived the implementation of PAYT within a socioeconomic framework. To achieve this goal, the team employed an online questionnaire survey in 2021.

In general, the study's participants appeared willing to embrace a major shift towards a generation-based charge system for waste management in place of the current method, which charges based on the size of the household. Approximately 80% of respondents responded positively to the question, "Should we replace the current waste collection system (green bin and recyclables' bins) with the PAYT system?"

Nonetheless, the participants expressed uncertainty about the potential success of this transformation. Roughly 30-35% of respondents believed that their fellow citizens and local authorities, respectively, would be up to the task, while 46% remained neutral. Another 9,5% believed that the authorities would not be able to implement the system effectively. A comparable lack of confidence in the local government was demonstrated in the research conducted by Drimili et al (2020), where citizens of Athens believed that their city was dirty, and the local government was mainly responsible for the situation. The researchers noted environmental education is nowadays a part of the Greek elementary school curriculum, but that the transfer of this knowledge to older individuals is lagging.

Emmanouil et al (2022) concluded that a considerable number of respondents were in favor of the PAYT systems' implementation, but underscored the need for the government and local authorities to prepare their communities for the forthcoming changes to ensure a seamless transition. In addition to technical challenges, the researchers identified critical issues with implementation, such as a lack of citizen engagement and social acceptance, and the need to strike a balance between application, implementation and cost concerning the current waste management paradigm. The team recommended that education be given
priority to integrate environmental awareness and community responsibility, emphasizing its vital role in the success of similar incentives.

Viscusi et al (2011) investigated whether individuals are more likely to engage in pro-environmental actions based on their personal valuations of the environment, which can be attributed to the warm glow effect- a phenomenon where the act of generosity itself serves as both the underlying motivation and a source of positive feelings (Bianchi, 2022) – or if social norms that promote pro-environmental behaviors play a more significant role. They also delved into the degree to which these social norms are shaped by legal frameworks and regulatory policies that establish behavioral standards. Through empirical analysis, they assessed the significance of these factors on recycling behavior.

Viscusi et al (2011) revealed that while personal values and social norms do have an impact, policy measures such as bottle deposits and recycling laws show the potential to significantly influence recycling rates. The researchers noted that due to the binary value of recycling decisions, the impact of such policies can be quite remarkable, transforming previously non-recycling households into avid recyclers. However, they also acknowledged the significant influence of individual attitudes towards the environment, as well as their perceptions of what others should do.

The policy measures Viscusi et al (2011) refers to, bottle deposits and recycling laws, are examples of using authority as a control mechanism to regulate behavior. Additionally, the significant influence of individuals' attitudes towards the environment and their perceptions of others' behavior highlights the importance of trust as a control mechanism. By combining the authors findings, such as implementing recycling laws while simultaneously promoting a sense of trust within the community towards environmental initiatives, recycling behavior can potentially be further enhanced. This combination of control mechanisms might create a more comprehensive approach to encourage pro-environmental behavior, ultimately leading to more sustainable waste management practices. In a 2022 study, Claude Fluet and Murat Mungan investigated the interplay between trust and authority, and how it varies based on the degree of observability of the actor. They found that when an actor feels that their actions are not being observed, a system that heavily relies on trust would not be effective in encouraging compliance, and authority would be necessary. However, the authors propose that the most efficient system, in terms of time and results, is one that combines observable behavior with both laws (authority) and norms (trust), allowing for incentivization through the complementary use of both mechanisms. Ultimately, the level of observability of the actor plays a critical role in determining the degree to which trust can effectively function in incentivizing compliance, with increased observability leading to greater encouragement and trust.

In their article Fluet and Mungan (2022) suggest that the effectiveness of a recycling system depends on the actor's perceived visibility within the system. This raises questions about how such a system would work in smaller municipalities with close-knit communities compared to densely populated cities where anonymity is more common. The authors argue for a system that combines trust and authority when actors feel visible within the recycling system but relies more heavily on authority when anonymity is a factor. On the other hand, the recycling system could benefit from having a recycling system designed to be visible and trackable as trust plays the role of a lubricant in a system (Arrow, 1974)

In the 2012 study "A Cross-Country Study of Household Waste Prevention and Recycling: Assessing the Effectiveness of Policy Instruments," Ferrara and Missios examined the impact of policy instruments, such as price and authority, on household waste prevention and recycling. The authors found that authority had a significant influence on the effectiveness of waste reduction and recycling programs. Authority based recycling programs promoting accessibility were found to be effective in promoting recycling behavior due to their accessibility. Although leading to a higher cost, accessibility is argued to be a leading contributor to better recycling behavior. Curbside recycling programs can be seen as a more expensive authority based recycling system as the logistics and time management of the program is price demanding. Price is seen as a less important factor when authority is more present as the increased price has a lower negative impact than the positive impact of accessibility. The authors suggest that a combination of authority and price should be carefully evaluated before implementation. While both price and authority policies can have positive impacts on waste reduction and recycling, combining them should be done through an analysis of how much price change is worth the increased accessibility.

A study was undertaken to investigate the level of endorsement for environmental taxes, particularly Pay-As-You-Throw (PAYT), among the ECTS. Brown & Johnstone (2014) discusses how environmental taxes can improve government finances and correct environmental problems, but public support for them is often low. The authors examine reasons for this negative attitude towards environmental taxes and use a household survey conducted by OECD in 2011 to analyze support for a specific environmental tax, PAYT charges for mixed waste collection, in four countries. They find that people who are exposed to PAYT tend to be more supportive of them, indicating that public resistance to such schemes is likely to dissipate following their introduction. Hence, when using PAYT, or price, as a control mechanism might have a positive effect on trust in the population. These findings suggest that applying these mechanisms together may have a mutually positive reinforcing effect.

Another study conducted by Heller & Vatn (2017) aimed to investigate the effectiveness of economic incentives in promoting environmentally friendly behavior by combining classical institutional economics and self-determination theory. It found that normative motivation is important for sorting household waste and that economic incentives had a divisive effect on motivation. Furthermore, illegal waste disposal increased in response to a differentiated waste fee. The study suggests that caution is needed when considering introducing a differentiated waste fee scheme to ensure sustainable behavior.

According to the article, a stand-alone PAYT scheme led to illegal dumping and less motivation amongst the ECTS in the municipality in which it was implemented. To govern this, a combination of the control mechanisms might be effective. The result stresses the importance of exercising authority in enforcing rules and regulations against illegal dumping and building trust in promoting motivation when implementing a PAYT scheme (price). This highlights how each of the control mechanisms play off one another, and how important it might be to exercise a combination of these.

2.4 Theoretical Framework

We have explored two key areas of literature: the reverse system and the ECTS, and control mechanisms (in waste management). In the literature review we have tried to understand how governance mechanisms, price, authority, and trust (Bradach & Eccles, 1989) relates to the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse system.

Price mechanisms provide economic incentives to influence waste generation and disposal behaviors. The most prominent way to provide economic incentives for recycling, according to the literature, is through a system called Pay-As-You-Throw (Morlok et al., 2017; Batllevell & Hanf, 2008; Alzamora & Barros, 2020). Authority in waste management practices sets the legal framework, regulations, requirements, and mandates for recycling behavior (Viscusi et al., 2023). Moreover, this also implies the degree to which these measures are enforced. The trust mechanism fosters stakeholder engagement and encourages compliance with waste management guidelines, as well as emphasizing the importance of norms and other social mechanisms (Mintz & Kurman, 2019; Flygansvær et al., 2021; Pentayya, 2013; Pedersen, 2020). By integrating a balanced utilization of price, authority, and trust, waste management systems can incentivize responsible behavior, ensure compliance, and promote positive attitudes towards waste reduction and recycling, ultimately contributing to sustainable waste management. . The literature shows that the relationship between the reverse system and ECTS is flawed, and there exists an intention-action gap (Flygansvær et al., 2021; Jalil et al., 2016). We suspect that the reality of governing the relationship between the consumer and the system deviates from economic transaction theory (Williamson, 1985), which states that trust is built over time through repeated successful transactions. We believe that in order to narrow the recycling behavior gap, there needs to be a more effective governance of this relationship.

As illustrated with the point of intersection in the theoretical framework, we wish to investigate how to govern the relation between the ECTS and reverse system, using governance mechanisms.



3. Methodology

In this chapter, we outline the research design and methodology utilized to understand the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse systems in Norway, in the context of governance mechanisms, informed by the conceptual framework discussed in the previous chapter.

3.1 Research Design

Our thesis employs a qualitative research design, making use of semistructured interviews as a primary data collection tool. This research design facilitates a detailed examination of the ways in which different renovation companies and municipalities implement and enforce recycling programs, guided by the control mechanisms of price, authority, and trust. We used an exploratory approach due to the fact that the field of using governance mechanisms in a recycling setting is relatively unexplored (Scrima, 2017). We also used a deductive approach, allowing themes to emerge from the data rather than imposing preconceived ideas (Research-Methodology, 2023). This top-down approach lets us use the literature to guide the formation of our thesis and tested with empirical data.

We conducted interviews with representatives from different waste management companies in Norway to learn more about how they utilized the governance mechanisms. For instance, how they implement and enforce their recycling programs, how they incentivize recycling behavior, and how they motivate and build relations with the ECTS. In addition, we aim to get insights into how effective these programs are at achieving their recycling goals by using a comparative design (Khan 2022). The data gathered will be used to identify which control mechanisms (price, authority, and trust) are being used by each renovation company, and how effective these mechanisms are at governing the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse system. Ultimately, we wish to understand how to best govern this relationship.

3.2 Sampling Strategy

Six renovation companies were selected for this study. To understand the complexity of recycling behaviors in different municipalities, we chose a variety of renovation companies that had different reverse systems and different demographics. For each renovation company, we interviewed the respective head of communication, or the manager, as they have a crucial role in implementing and maintaining these systems.

We selected three renovation companies for our study based on population size (over 100,000 residents), with a focus on those with differing reverse waste management systems. To understand the potential impact of population size on recycling behavior, we also included three smaller renovation companies. The selection was based on the size of the municipality, their geographic location, and their approach to waste management and recycling programs. These factors were considered to ensure a diverse range of participants and capture a wider range of experiences and perspectives.

In our pursuit to locate individuals with experience and knowledge in recycling reverse logistics, we employed "purposive sampling," (Campbell 2020). This sampling method proved to be well-suited for our qualitative research. Selecting candidates based on relevance significantly enhanced the credibility of our research instead of random sampling.

3.3 Interview guide development

Magaldi (2020) defines semi-structured interviews as purposeful conversations designed to extract specific information. These interviews consist of a set of questions designed to guide the discussion towards pre-determined topics, while also allowing the conversation to adapt and vary, often changing significantly between different participants. This method is unlike a structured interview, which strictly adheres to a pre-set list of questions asked in the same sequence for each participant.

Semi-structured interviews have a more flexible structure, characterized by open-ended questions. The conversation can progress in various directions, until all the required topics have been sufficiently explored. Fylan (2005) elaborates that semi-structured interviews are particularly useful when the objective is to understand why something works, rather than quantifying how much or how many. The inherent flexibility of semi-structured interviews allows for spontaneous follow-up questions and diversions to investigate areas requiring further explanation. This adaptability makes semi-structured interviews a versatile tool for data collection, enabling researchers to delve deeper into the subject matter. When generating each question, we pressured the importance of not leading the subject as this would give a bias in the results.

Before conducting the interviews, we thoroughly presented ourselves and our research intentions, explained how we aimed to contribute to existing literature, and outlined our hopes to learn from their experiences and knowledge.

In the first part of the interview, we were interested in understanding the interviewee's perspective on the relationship between the renovation companies and the consumer. We sought their views on how they perceived and characterized the consumer, how they assessed and measured the efficiency of their recycling system, and their observations on the shifts in recycling rate and overall performance of the reverse systems over recent years. This initial stage of the interview established the foundation for an engaging discussion and allowed us to subtly guide the interview into the subject we wished to explore.

The second part of the interview was subdivided into three segments, each intended to delve into one of the control mechanisms: Trust, Price, and Authority. Each segment consisted of three open-ended questions, supplemented by several follow-up questions posed during the interview. These additional queries served to subtly steer the conversation and ensure we remained focused on the subject at hand.

We concluded the interview with a series of final questions, inquiring if the interviewee had any additional comments they wished to share about our research. We also asked about their perception of which control mechanism they think should be prominent in the municipalities. The wrap up allowed us to explore any unsought areas and rounded up the interview. Also, the professionals were allowed to share their opinion and give a short answer to our research question.

3.4 Participant Selection

Avfall Sør (Kristiansand and Vennesla)

The first participant we interviewed was the Head of Communication at Avfall Sør, the company responsible for renovation in Kristiansand and Vennesla. Avfallsør operates with a team of 90 workers, managing waste for approximately 130,000 residents and four recycling stations. The participant stated that he worked mainly with household waste.

The participant has a significant history with Avfall Sør, with a career spanning 30 years. Initially working as an engineer with a background in natural and environmental protection, he later transitioned into a communication role, where he has now spent the last 15 years. This career shift was driven by his recognition of the pivotal role communication could play in influencing recycling behavior.

Oslo kommune

We interviewed Jørgen, a communications advisor at Oslo renovation. Jørgen has worked there for seven and a half years dealing with most aspects of the profession, including social media, websites, press work, and project communication. Everything within communication between the municipality and the consumer. Oslo renovation is responsible for 700.000 residents.

Hallingdal Renovasjon (Hol, Ål, Gol, Hemsedal, Nesbyen, Flå and Krødsherad)

We interviewed Eirik, the head of Hallingdal Renovasjon which is responsible for renovating in the seven municipalities: Hol, Ål, Gol, Hemsedal, Nesbyen, Flå, and Krødsherad. They operate with a team of 60 employees divided into four different sub-departments: Transport, recycling, incineration, and outdoors. Furthermore, they renovate for approximately 11,000 permanent residents and 22,000 cabin residents. The participant has three years experience in the general manager position at Hallingdal Renovasjon.

Avfallsservice (Lyngen, Storfjord, Kåfjord, Skjervøy, Nordreisa og Kvænangen)

From Avfallsservice, we had two participants. Karl-Martin, who was in charge of operations, and Vegard who was recently hired as a communications advisor. Avfallsservice is responsible for renovating in the six municipalities: Lyngen, Storfjord, Kåfjord, Skjervøy, Nordreisa, and Kvænangen. They have six employees in their administration and employ a total of 32 people.

ReMidt (17 municipalities in Trøndelag og Møre og Romsdal)

From ReMidt, we interviewed Erik. He has been working as a communications manager at Remit IKS since the 1st of January 2020. But he has had the same job for 6 years since they merged 3 inter-municipal companies from January 1, 2020. Before that, he worked in an inter-municipal company called Hamos IKS, which is now part of Remit IKS. The company has 130.000 residents, that is about 68.000 subscribers, and 30.000 cabin subscriptions, in 17 different municipalities.

Fosen (Indre Fosen, Ørland og Åfjord)

We interviewed Ola. He has worked in Fosen waste management since 2010. Ola started as a general manager and in 2020, got tired of the position and started working with various projects and developments. The company has 25.000 residents, 11.000 subscriptions and 5.000 cabin subscriptions in three different municipalities.

3.5 Data Collection

To uphold the integrity of the data, both authors were present during all interviews, and we took measures to prevent any loss of information. Each interview was recorded to ensure accuracy and prevent data loss. Notes were continuously created throughout the interviews. Afterwards, the recordings were transcribed, and a comprehensive summary was created from the transcriptions. This summary served as a valuable reference to capture and revisit the information gathered during the interviews. All interviews were transcribed using the transcription tool in Microsoft Teams.

In this thesis, the guidelines of BI Norwegian Business School for data and personal information were followed to ensure lawful processing of data and personal information. Permission was sought for recording interviews and the degree to which we were allowed to use the collected data. This involved explaining the nature of the thesis and why we were interested in data collection from the individual. To ensure that the data is not used contrary to the guidelines of BI Norwegian Business School after turning in the thesis, all gathered data will be deleted.

3.6 Data Analysis

The transcribed interview data was analyzed using thematic analysis. We used an deductive approach, allowing themes to emerge from the data rather than imposing preconceived ideas. This helped us to identify key patterns related to the use of the control mechanisms and their effect on recycling behavior.

The evaluation of each waste collector's utilization of the mechanisms trust, price, and authority is based on the interview responses as well as a careful overall assessment by the authors, taking into account the context of section 2.3 from the literature review. The grading system ranges from 0 to 5, where 5 represents the highest rating and illustrates a very high utilization of the mechanism, while 0 represents a complete absence of the mechanism.

3.7 Ensuring Data Validity and Reliability

The methodology employed in this study is designed to facilitate a comprehensive understanding of the relationship between governance mechanisms and recycling behavior within Norwegian municipalities. By utilizing semi-structured interviews, we aim to capture the nuanced experiences and insights of key individuals involved in municipal recycling programs, allowing for a richer understanding of the complexities involved in promoting sustainable recycling behaviors. To further enhance validity and reliability, we used peer debriefing which involved continuous discussions with our supervisor and member checking, which involved revisiting participants with our initial findings to ensure their views were accurately represented.

4. Results

In this segment of the thesis we will present our findings. The different actors are separated and presented individually to maintain structure and coherence, and finally compared to each other. The authors first present characteristics of each individual system, followed by three main components that follow the framework, namely trust, price, and authority, and lastly, a summary of the findings.

4.1 Avfall Sør (Kristansand og Vennesla)

Characteristics of the system:

- Utilizes a form of PAYT (Pay-As-You-Throw) system based on charging for each collection of residual waste and food waste, as well as a variable fee according to size of the bin.
- Households sort residual waste, plastic, organic waste, glass & metal, and paper & cardboard in individual bins.
- Approximately 130,000 inhabitants
- Curbside recycling and environmental stations

• Pick-up varies, but usually every 2nd week.

4.1.1 Trust

Before delving into trust, we asked an initial question to all representatives: "What is your view on the consumers?". This is a broad and open question, as the consumers are often segmented and differentiated within the municipalities, but we emphasized a more general impression. This question was intended so that we, without any influence through other questions and much thought, could have the "top of mind" impression from the representatives.

When asked the initial question, the response was that they have different customers. However, they operated with a general attitude which was that the ECTS wanted to get rid of their waste the easiest way possible, but to retain a clear conscience when doing so. Also, he added that there is a behavior gap between what they say and do.

"We have various customers, but we have a starting point that we work with, which is that the customer is interested in getting rid of their waste in the easiest possible way while also doing it responsibly (...) Through our waste analysis, however, we also see that many customers tend to be a bit "Pinocchio. In this analysis of collected waste almost 70% of what was in the residual waste could have been sorted into another container. However, in the survey around 80-86% claim they sort their waste properly."

When asked about if the main reason behind this is due to lack of knowledge and expertise, or just a matter of effort, Lars stated that he thinks it is mainly due to lack of effort. Also, he added that it is dependent on circumstances as well, providing an example that underscores the significance of ensuring convenient waste disposal for the ECTS. Furthermore, he also commented on the collaborative efforts (e.g., information posters, nudges) from both Avfall Sør and key personnel and why this relation is of importance as well. "It's mostly about willingness. For example, if you live in a housing cooperative where sorting is poorly facilitated, and the first thing you encounter when you enter the waste room is a large bin for general waste, then it's easy to just throw everything in there. If it's not properly arranged, you won't bother going all the way to the plastic packaging, for instance. Or if you have a caretaker who doesn't care much and has received posters from Avfall Sør about source separation but doesn't hang them up or create awareness about it."

Avfall sør places considerable emphasis on trust as a mechanism to govern the relationship between the system and the ECTS, and to further promote improved recycling behavior. They believe that it is of the utmost importance to showcase examples of success from the reverse system.

"We do a lot to gain the trust of the public. Information, various campaigns, get the message out! We convey that it makes a difference and that it pays off to sort waste for a better environment, showing examples and concrete figures and such. It is important to fuel good examples such as plastic and glass, for instance, how we collect them, where they are taken, and what new products they are transformed into."

They hold the belief that without the trust of the ECTS, recycling efforts will be diminished. In order to acquire or maintain this trust, they advocate for a consistent and ongoing effort. The reason behind this is they believe that it takes very little to undermine the trust they have been trying to build up for years.

"We have many who try to cast doubt on the system, both through the media and by referring to what's happening abroad and such. It takes very little to undermine the trust we have tried to build up." Additionally, Lars explained that plastic was being exported to China prior to 2017, but China stopped accepting it thereafter. As a consequence, Nordic plastic waste was discovered scattered throughout Europe, and this issue garnered attention in documentaries and similar media.

"(...) There has been some "cowboy" business going on. And when you see documentaries and such about this, it may be that Nordic plastic and waste are found in other parts of Europe, and this greatly affects the reputation."

Even though the plastic referred to was from industry, it had a negative effect on the trust between the system and the ECTS according to Lars. Hence, the increasing efforts for campaigning the success of the system as referenced earlier. When asked if the consumers believe their waste is being handled correctly, he said that Avfall Sør believes so.

"Yes, with the work we put in to reassure the consumers, we believe that residents trust that their waste is being handled properly."

Furthermore, he provided an example of one of their measures taken to show the public how their disposal of food waste. It was a scheme where the food waste is gathered and driven to a composting facility, where it is made into good composting products. From there, it is driven out to recycling stations around the municipality for the ECTS to buy and use in their own composting.

"This helps to build trust because the food waste you deliver to Avfall Sør can be collected/purchased by yourself when you visit the recycling station. This creates a circular loop where your apple cores, for example, are transformed into high-quality compost that you can use in your own garden." As mentioned earlier, Lars and Avfall Sør have discovered that the ECTS have a tendency to exaggerate their own recycling behavior. Upon receiving the question about how much trust the reverse system has in the consumers, he stated that they do not have full trust in the consumers. However, he emphasized that they still believe that the vast majority of people would like to dispose of their waste conscientiously.

"We do not have complete trust in the consumer. For instance, consumers often claim to recycle better than they actually do. Another example is when some individuals misuse collection points, contaminating the recycling efforts of the majority who follow the rules. However, overall, people are generally loyal and responsible."

The representative believes that social norms and social pressure can play a role in altering recycling behavior and efforts but may not always work as intended or even in a positive way. He explains that when they implemented packaging bags for plastic. The consumers were supposed to tie the bag to their regular bin when it was time for collection of waste. However, there was one person who was usually significantly better at recycling and lived a very sustainable lifestyle. Due to this, the person in question bought generally little plastic wares, and thus, did have much in the plastic packaging bag. His neighbors assumed this was because he threw everything in the residual bin and were under the opinion that he recycled poorly.

"(...) I think the fact that we spend so much resources and time on the development of trust, and creating norms, that it goes without saying that we believe in its impact. Social pressure is also an intriguing factor (...) He was more diligent than his neighbors but faced criticism because they assumed he was doing poorly. Meanwhile, those who put out 2-3 bags a week were praised, even though the consumption of plastic isn't environmentally friendly. Social norms and pressure play a role in such neighborhoods."

Furthermore, he believes that trust between the ECTS and the reverse system is a key factor to the success of the system.

"(...) Mutual trust is also important for obvious reasons; the population won't be diligent with waste sorting if they don't trust that it will be handled correctly. Similarly, it's important for us to have trust in consumers, and that's what we work on through campaigns, education, nudging, and the like."

Avfall Sør believes in the creation of norms and educating the public.

"(...) We have a lot of school visits at our station, and a colleague who works as an environmental advisor goes to schools and workplaces."

Also, the representative noted that Avfall Sør is the biggest shareholder in Returkraft AS where they allocated resources explicitly to educate the people about source sorting, recycling, renewable energy, climate awareness and the circular economy.

"There, they have a nice "schoolroom" with education and lots of exciting tasks in climate, environment, energy, and consumption. They have target groups ranging from kindergartens up to university level, as well as various teams and associations."

4.1.2 Price

The representative clarified that residents in the area are charged a fixed fee for renovation services, along with a variable fee based on the frequency of emptying the biowaste and residual waste bins. This variable fee operates on a Pay-As-You-Throw (PAYT) system (Alzamora & Barros, 2020), allowing residents to save money through source sorting their waste, resulting in less frequent emptying of the residual waste bin. Additionally, residents can further reduce costs by composting some of their bio waste at home. When asked about his thoughts on effectiveness of this incentive-based system, he answered the following:

"(...) Yes, the variable fee per emptying of residual waste and food waste. It is very flexible and convenient for those who want to save some money by being diligent in their source sorting, but it can also be a kind of complacency for those who don't care. (...) We want to tighten it up a bit now going forward and will investigate this model, and see if we should switch to something else. There are many good aspects to it, but we need to increase material recycling by 2035."

When asked to explain the issue with complacency regarding the incentivebased system, he pointed out the significant amount of material that could still be sorted at the source from the residual waste. This suggests that despite the presence of incentives for source sorting, there is still much progress to be made.

"(...) that in the residual waste bin, there is 50-70% of raw materials or other items that could have been sorted at the source is the biggest challenge now. (...) and now we need to extract more value from the residual waste to increase material recycling. We need people to make a greater effort in sorting."

Since the PAYT-system did not incentivize the appropriate behavior sufficiently, the representative was asked his thoughts on perhaps raising the fee, effectively making it even more expensive. To this, he responded:

"I think that upping the price from 40 kr per bin to something like 200 kr will have a bad effect on recycling rate as the consumers will have a bad reaction to prices suddenly rising."

The representative was then asked to elaborate on this, as increasing the fee should in theory increase the incentive. However, he presented arguments about how this might affect all the work they have already done with regards to trust amongst the ECTS, illegal dumping and blowback from the media.

"One of the reasons why I don't believe it will work in practice is the potential blowback from the media. Additionally, the culture in several places down here is that garbage should be burned, whatever doesn't float, we sink, and so on. (...) Therefore, it is risky to increase prices as it may lead to illegal dumping of waste, burning, and so on. At the same time, it undermines trust (...) It is a balancing act of multiple factors, and there is no quick fix to this because then this waste can emerge elsewhere."

Before finishing the line of questioning within price and incentive-based systems, we asked the representative if he thought the PAYT system had contributed to a better recycling rate since implemented.

"It is difficult to say exactly how much impact this has had on the recycling rate. The recycling rate has improved, but it is not easy to attribute this improvement to either the variable fee, campaigns, increasing climate focus, or some other factors."

4.1.3 Authority

According to the representative, there are regulations, guidelines, and laws in place that empower them to enforce our regulations towards their subscribers.

"Yes, we have that. The Waste Regulations and provisions in the Pollution Control Act, and we also have guidelines. We can issue fines or file a report with the police."

When asked about whether this is something they enforce, the representative stated that Avfall Sør does not deliver sanctions or fines if the rules or

guidelines are broken. Also, they do not analyze the waste on a householdlevel, meaning that in practice, there is very little chance of getting 'caught' when improperly recycling.

"We never really issue fines in practice. We also have had poor experiences with filing complaints, as the burden of proof lies on us. It seldom leads to any constructive outcomes. (...) Even if we know which person has left waste at an environmental station, for example (via a letter or similar means), we have the option to report it, but it doesn't get us anywhere, so we choose not to (...) Some of the individuals involved are also social cases and do not have the means to pay any fines (...) We do not check if the Nilsen family is recycling properly, so no, not on a household level"

However, they may refuse to pick up unsorted or wrongly sorted waste or leave a note to the household that they need to recycle better.

"If the waste collector notices that there is only residual waste in the bin designated for glass and metal packaging, they may attach a note or simply leave the bin behind, as it has not been sorted according to the guidelines of Avfall Sør."

The representative explained that whenever they change their regulations, or make changes to the guidelines, it will usually get some backlash from the public. However, he noted that this reaction usually eases over time, and after a while most of the ECTS has adjusted.

"We also observe that any changes create a lot of fuss in the beginning. Altering the frequency of emptying, modifying the pickup locations, introducing new bins, and so on. (...) changes implemented initially are likely to face some backlash, but we also see that the population gradually adapts to them over time." Further, he provided us with this example:

"(...)we established a guideline 25 years ago stating that everyone must place their bins out by the accessible road, and we received a lot of complaints at that time. However, now, there are no complaints at all because the population has been drilled on this specific requirement."

According to the representative, Avfall Sør prioritizes work with trust and communication rather than authority. Furthermore, he pointed to the fact that the consumers might feel threatened by strict authority, and that it may undo much of the work they have already done to nurture this relationship.

"(...) rather than using the stick approach, we believe in encouraging and informing consumers about how to sort waste, dispose of hazardous materials, and so on. Our strategic approach lies in communication, focusing on changing attitudes and sharing positive stories."

4.1.4 Summary

The representative was finally presented with our research question and was asked to provide his professional opinion on how he believes these mechanisms should be used to govern the relationship between the ECTS and reverse supply chain. To this, he responded that a combination of the three could be most beneficial.

"(...) I think that maybe a combination of the three should be good. I believe in trust and spreading a positive message, but that you also need authority and price as well." Furthermore, he stated that their material recycling rate is at 51%, and that it has been at this level for some time.

"We currently have about 51% material recycling rate (...) we have seen some improvement, but not enough. Efforts must be made to increase the residual waste sorting level."

Avfall Sør's relationship with the consumer is largely influenced by trust. They work with various social initiatives, contribute to building norms, and allocate significant resources towards communication and educating residents. They use a system based on a PAYT-scheme, but also use a flat fee for the bins and renovation services. Thus, there are incentives for the ECTS to recycle. However, according to the representative, they do not consider the incentives to be particularly beneficial for the recycling rate since he stated that "many use it as a pillow". Also, the representative mentions that they have considered alternative options for utilization of price for the future.

Nonetheless, he acknowledges that it is positive that the consumers who are good at source sorting can save money doing so. Furthermore, the representative explains that they possess fundamental authority to exercise their power, such as refusing waste collection or placing stickers and similar items on garbage bins. At the same time, they acknowledge that they could potentially report certain violations or issue fines, but in practice, it is rarely done due to various reasons. The representative makes it clear that Avfall Sør believes in building trust and providing positive feedback rather than utilizing authority.



4.2 Oslo

Characteristics of the system:

- 700,000 inhabitants and 350,000 subscriptions, 80% is in apartment buildings.
- Households sort plastic, residual waste, and biowaste in separate bags but the same bin. Shared containers for glass & metal and paper & cardboard
- Optical sorting facility
- Curbside recycling and environmental stations.
- Pick-up for paper every fourth week and residual waste once a week. In apartment buildings, it is not uncommon with 2-3 pickups a week.
- Utilizes a fee-based system which can vary according to the size of the bin.

4.2.1 Trust

The representative states that there is no single type of consumer to address in their waste management strategies, given the range of inhabitants and households in Oslo. Their insights from surveys reveal that trust levels between the consumers and the waste management services are quite high. They have also found that waste separation is impacted by media reports and societal trends, highlighting the negative trend of mistrust.

"Well, there isn't really one type of consumer we can relate to. This includes everyone living here, in all districts. We have some insights because we conduct a lot of surveys on trust in us and on waste separation in general, and I think consumers have quite high trust in us. We also try to trust them to sort their waste and do as we wish. This varies a lot, and it can change based on media reports about plastic in the ocean or similar bad news. A report from the people's enlightenment a couple of years ago had a big thing about recycling whether it worked or not, and after that, we noticed quite quickly that trust went down."

In terms of consumer segmentation, they have categorized consumers into different groups, such as those who believe in and practice recycling ('Convinced'), those who recycle because they are told to ('Dutiful'), and those who do not care about recycling ('Don't care'). Oslo believes this is important to know how to target the right individuals and improve average behavior. They also found that consumers who own their bins typically show better sorting habits compared to those who share a bin.

"A group called convinced. These are people who sort what they should and believe in recycling. A group called dutiful, who also sort what they should, but to a greater extent do it because they are asked to, and then there are those at the other end who don't care. 10% who don't care. We see a difference between those who own their own bins and those who share. Much better sorting from those who own their own bin. If you have a family with children who do not sort, it will have a significant impact as they generate a lot of garbage, but for an older couple of "convinced" who do not generate so much garbage but sort correctly, it will matter less since it is not such a large volume. We need many "convinced" to outweigh those who don't care and generate a lot of garbage. Those who are good at waste separation create less garbage than those who are bad. "

In terms of building trust among the inhabitants regarding their recycling system, they believe transparency is key. Initial implementation involved extensive campaigns to familiarize the public with the system. Now, it's important to communicate the reasons behind recycling and to demonstrate the results of their efforts.

"At the start of implementing today's system, there was a lot of focus on familiarity and trust through campaigns. There were large attitudinal campaigns, brochures in the mail, and commercials on TV and in the cinema. For trust or familiarity with the colored bags, how to sort simply. In recent years, we have seen that the media and society turn towards why one recycles and not just how, and then trust must be built in a different way. The most important thing for us then is to be transparent in what we do and not lie or hide anything. We have to build trust by showing results. It's also about not creating mistrust because the consumer is looking for reasons not to have to sort at source and if mistrust is created, we are in trouble. About every other year we send out a brochure in the mail to all households, but there is a battle for attention in the municipality of Oslo since several agencies want to put out information."

Regarding social norms, they consider education a powerful tool for shaping behavior. For example, teaching about recycling to fourth-grade students, who can then influence their parents, is seen as a potent form of social pressure. They have also explored more localized efforts, such as a successful project in Romsås, though budget constraints have limited the ability to replicate this type of initiative.

"We have 5000 fourth graders learning about recycling. It's part of their curriculum for sustainable development. It's the best social pressure we have since they influence their parents. Working with social norms is much more difficult in Oslo due to a large difference in demographics (...) we have also looked at the possibility of working more locally in city districts. We had a project in Romsås a couple of years ago. We were in Romsås for 2 months, where we knocked on doors and had events. The project was successful during the months we were there, but whether the project could be replicated and rolled out was voted down due to the budget. "

4.2.2 Price

The only incentive in the system lies in the fee structure for waste disposal, where they can pay less if they have a smaller bin. The fee a resident pay is determined based on the size of the bin they have and not on how often the bin needs emptying. Therefore, if a resident produces less waste, their annual fee will be lower. Conversely, if a household constantly overflows their bin, sanitation workers report this in the system, and the customer is contacted to consider switching to a larger bin. This system encourages people to think about their waste generation and adjust their disposal habits accordingly, promoting waste reduction and recycling.

"Your fee is calculated based on what type of bin you have. The less you throw away, the less you pay per year. "

Conversely, if a household constantly overflows their bin, sanitation workers report this in the system, and the customer is contacted to consider switching to a larger bin. This system encourages people to think about their waste generation and adjust their disposal habits, accordingly, promoting waste reduction and recycling.

"The fee is independent of how often you need emptying and is based only on the size of the bin. If you have 3 of these buried containers and you suspect that you only throw enough to fill 2, then one can be shut down and lead to a lower fee. If we see that a household has very little waste or has overfilled their bin, the sanitation worker enters it into the system and the customer is contacted to change the bin." Additionally, they are a part of the cardboard lottery where the ECTS can recycle cardboard, put their name and cellphone number inside, and possibly win cash rewards.

"(...) we also have the cardboard lottery where they can win cash up to a 100,000kr."

4.2.3 Authority

The representative describes that waste management is governed by the Pollution Control Act and the Waste Regulations. According to these, each municipality is individually responsible for managing the waste of its inhabitants. Each municipality also has its own specific regulations for waste management, which they create themselves.

"It's the Pollution Control Act and the Waste Regulations. The Waste Regulations place responsibility with the municipality. Each individual municipality is responsible for its inhabitants. Each municipality also has its own regulation for waste management in Oslo, which it designs itself."

If someone disposes of waste incorrectly (wrong bag, wrong bin), they aren't breaking a law but are instead violating a regulation. The usual consequence for this is that they are notified that they need to improve their recycling habits. In cases of non-compliance, an additional fee can be imposed, but this hasn't been enforced during the representative's tenure. This fee is determined based on the cost to the municipality to rectify the mistake. In practice, fines aren't given out. If the wrong items are thrown into the bin (for example, bricks and a TV), the common response is that the waste is not collected.

"If you throw away trash in the wrong bag and the wrong bin, you are not breaking a law per se, but a regulation. As of today, the consequence will be that we notify that recycling needs to be improved. If it is not complied with, we can impose an additional fee, but this has not happened during the 7.5 years I have been working here. The fee is the sum of how much it costs the municipality to correct the mistake. Fines are not given out in practice. We really don't have a good system for it. We do not give fines because we do not open bags and check the contents, but if someone throws a lot of bricks and the TV into it, we will not take the trash. The most common consequence is that we do not pick it up."

4.2.4 Summary

In Oslo, the material recycling rate is at about 40% according to the representative.

"(...)we have about 40% material recycle rate now, and it has been stable at this level for some time."

Lastly, the representative expresses support for more stringent regulation on waste management when presented with our research question. Both at the national and local level. However, he acknowledged the political challenges associated with such measures, as it is not popular among voters to introduce penalties and stricter recycling rules.

"Yes, I am very in favor of that. I am very in favor of finding a balance between intervening against individuals and finding a balance in how invasive one can be. When it comes to regulation, both nationally and locally, I believe that there is a lot to be done on the waste side. Unfortunately, it is not exactly a vote winner to focus on tightening up sanitation in the country. It's not popular among voters to be the government that introduces punishment and recycling."

Surveys in Oslo reveal that the trust between the municipality and the ECTS is quite high and can be explained by the extensive work the municipality did in the start phase of the current system. The relationship is today more focused on not creating mistrust in the ETCS and the system therefore focuses on transparency and positive media coverage. More active measures taken by the municipality is the choice to push recycling knowledge through the school system, but due to budget constraints, they have more of a passive attitude towards trust as a mechanism. As far as price goes, the municipality does not use price more than what we see as the minimum. The price is only differentiated based on the size of the bin and not on how often the bin needs to be emptied. It is therefore cheaper for those who produce less waste but not used much as an incentive. It is not possible to refuse emptying. Authority as a mechanism is almost not present at all as there are some regulations present but nothing being enforced. The only form of authority used is refusing to pick up the waste if there is something significantly wrong recycled.



4.3 Hallingdal Renovasjon (Hol, Ål, Gol, Hemsedal, Nes, Flå og Krødsherad)

Characteristics of the system:

- Utilizes a fee-based system which can vary according to the size of the bin.
- Households sort residual waste, plastic, organic waste, glass & metal, and paper & cardboard in individual bins.

- Approximately 36,000 subscribers for household waste, whereas onethird are permanent residents and two-thirds are cabin residents.
- Curbside recycling, waste collection points and environmental stations
- Bins emptied every two weeks

4.3.1 Trust

The manager was asked in the beginning about his view on the consumer. To this, he responded that they do not have a uniform answer to this and that they have not created any segments for their customers. However, he feels that there are different individuals within the various scales, ranging from those who do not care to those who are highly invested.

"We don't have a particularly precise answer to that, we haven't created any customer profiles, but we do experience an increasing desire to sort waste. However, there is a portion of the population that doesn't have any basic desire to sort waste either. This is more prevalent in rural areas, and here there are probably quite a few people who strongly believe that garbage should be burned."

Since Hallingdal Renovasjon consists of one third households, and two thirds' cabins and huts, working with trust in the population is a hard job according to the general manager. When asked about how (or if) they work with building trust amongst the ECTS, he mentioned some of the work they have been doing, and also, highlighted that the media in recent years has created some unrest.

"(...) Yes, to some extent we do, but it's not very significant. Most of the work that has been done is in response to the unrest caused by media and similar sources, and the population has become uncertain about the effectiveness of waste sorting. So, we have been working on transparency, showcasing the progress of the system and the benefits of waste sorting. This includes campaigns, spreading information, and providing details about collection schedules and such." Additionally, when asked about any initiatives to engage with the public, such as in schools, workplaces, or associations, the manager stated that it is not currently a priority due to limited resources. Instead, they clarified that their primary focus is on allocating their resources towards other areas.

"No, we don't allocate many resources to that. We invest significantly fewer resources in initiatives related to trust compared to larger cities. We have a relatively lean administration. Our focus is primarily on core tasks and what happens after we collect the waste(...) We have a large geographical area and relatively few subscribers, so our strong focus is on logistics, and engaging with consumers simply isn't a top priority. Approximately 98% of our efforts are dedicated to waste management, while the remaining 2% are allocated to other matters."

Despite the unrest amongst the ECTS in recent years and the little resources spent on engaging with them, the manager believes that their campaigns have been effective, and that they still have their trust. In short, he thinks that the inhabitants trust that their waste is being properly managed. However, he also added that there are certain deviations.

"(...)I would say that the overall answer is yes, but of course, there are individuals who have no trust in anything, but they are more of an exception."

When asked about his trust in the ECTS with regards to recycling effort, capability, and adherence to guidelines his response was that it is somewhat weak. He pointed to the fact that they have a difficult demography, with both elderly, cabins, and people with different norms than what they might have within large cities.

"We have quite low trust that people behave appropriately (...) There have been cases where people have collected all sorts of waste in a common bag and dumped it in the general waste at the recycling stations (...) rural areas where garbage has often been viewed simply as garbage, without much consideration for climate challenges, circular economy, and the like. My parents-in-law are a good example of that."

Furthermore, the manager stated that cabins and households are both full subscribers and pay the same fee. However, cabin-owners need to bring their garbage to a garbage return point. Also, he noted that these return points are quite available and, and that they currently have 180 of these. Also, noting that these have been upgraded in recent years to allow for more source sorting. Despite the fact that cabin owners have full subscriptions and access to recycling points, his impression is that on average waste sorting is worse among cabin owners compared to homeowners.

"(...)This is not something that we have spent much time investigating, but my gut feeling is that yes, households are generally better at waste sorting. There is less willingness among cabin owners in this regard. In quantitative measurements in terms of volume, there is a higher rate of sorted waste among those who have curbside collection compared to those who have to bring their waste to designated points."

To follow up on the difficult demography, the manager was asked if they have targeted campaigns, information, or other measures to reach these ECTS. He responded that they try to reach them with various communication-tools but acknowledged that this is not a top priority.

"(...) mainly work with communication, but not too extensively. It's a challenging demographic to reach. We rely on local media coverage to highlight and address any incidents that demonstrate "this is not acceptable" and similar messages."

Lastly, the manager answered that although he does believe it is positive to create social norms, mutual trust and other social factors, he highlighted the potential difficulty in creating and maintaining it.

"Social norms can indeed be quite important, but admittedly difficult to establish. Building social norms requires an active role, which we currently do not have."

4.3.2 Price

Regarding the pricing structure for subscribers, the general manager stated that it is a straightforward system, emphasizing that cabin owners are considered regular subscribers as well.

"We have a very simple pricing structure that solely revolves around the waste management fee. I would also like to clarify that cabins are considered households in this case, and they are required to pay the fee as well. The majority of them have the same size of waste bins, so it can be regarded as a fixed fee for the most part."

As Hallingdal Renovasjon does not have a variable fee on weight or number of pick-ups (which is more similar to a PAYT-scheme), the manager was asked if there are any other incentives for the ECTS to encourage better recycling. In response, he noted that there are no obvious incentives, but highlighted that the government will be raising the CO2 fee, which will increase the cost for the system to dispose of residual waste. Consequently, this will impact the consumer fee as it is influenced by the actual cost incurred.

"No, currently it doesn't. However, the government has introduced a CO2 tax on the incineration of residual waste, and the increased cost will be passed on to the consumer. So one can say that there is a shared economic incentive for sorting and reducing the amount of residual waste. It's possible that when this tax comes into full effect, we may need to consider structural changes in the fee system, where the actual amount of residual waste per household is taken into greater account." With this answer in mind, he was asked whether he would consider a PAYTscheme when the CO2 tax is implemented. He would not say for sure but regarded it as a possible solution. Furthermore, he emphasized the unfairness if the fee is spread out equally on all the ECTS, given that there are several of them that try their absolute best to source sort and avoid too much residual waste.

"That is definitely something we have considered looking into more closely. It would certainly solve the issue related to the unfairness of equal distribution. Additionally, it aligns with the principle of the polluter pays. However, there are multiple factors at play beyond just the CO2 tax, so a comprehensive analysis needs to be conducted."

4.3.3 Authority

Regarding authority, the managing director mentioned that they have a local waste regulation in place that applies to all owner municipalities, and that it has the same requirements as the national regulations. Furthermore, he explained that this is essentially the authority they have, but it doesn't work perfectly in practice.

"We have resolved it by implementing a local waste regulation that is consistent across all owner municipalities. This regulation aligns with the national requirements. In a way, this is the authority we utilize. One can also discuss how well it functions, but currently, it is the only practical authority we have."

Furthermore, when asked if they enforce this in practice, he stated that they do not.

"(...) the simple answer here is no. In this case, it is the municipalities that set the requirements, and we do not impose any enforcement of this authority."

The manager was asked to elaborate why they do not enforce these rules, to which he highlighted the issues with filing a report to the police. Also, he underscored that this is not necessarily looked upon as such a big problem.

"It is not considered a significant enough problem to take action in this manner. So, if you are caught incorrectly sorting waste here, it practically has no consequences whatsoever. In theory, we could report an individual for improperly sorting residual waste, such as hazardous waste, but the burden of proof would be on us, and we would likely not get anywhere with it."

Furthermore, he was asked whether he believed it would be beneficial for them to appear more strict (i.e., surveillance, access control). To this he responded positively and mentioned some of the projects they have been testing. However, he underscored that a breach to regulations, caught on camera or not, would not necessarily lead to sanctions, fines or police reports. That it is intended as a sort of nudge (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008) rather than strict enforcement.

"I believe it would work well. In fact, we are currently running some pilot projects on this, so we have been testing it out to some extent. It involves having environmental stations with improved technology, such as access control using individual key cards for each household, and the possibility of implementing camera surveillance, among other measures. The idea is that this can create external pressure to do the right thing, even though, in practice, it probably would not have consequences for those who still violate the law (at present)."

Lastly, he was asked his professional opinion on whether the imposition of more strict rules and regulations could be beneficial.

"I believe that basic regulation is absolutely necessary going forward, meaning more use of authority. It is difficult to establish a good and efficient waste management system without it being mandated. If you drive too fast in Norway, you receive a fine; if you drink in public places, you can receive a fine. Currently, there are practically no real consequences for poor waste sorting."

4.3.4 Summary

According to the manager, Hallingdal Renovation has a material recycling rate of about 32%.

In the end, the manager was presented with our research question and was asked to take into account what we have discussed and gone through. When asked about how he envisions this relationship should be governed, he replied that it should be a combination of the three.

"I think a balanced composition of all of them is ideal."

At the same time, he mentioned that he feels there should be a fundamental regulation in place that grants it more authority to enforce violations.

"A fundamental regulation is, in my opinion, completely necessary, with more use of authority. It is difficult to achieve a good and efficient waste management system without it being mandated."

The manager mentioned that his strategic approach going forward would likely involve combining a system with increased surveillance in the form of access control and video monitoring, along with a system that can provide feedback to customers.

"-A combination of this system with surveillance, access control, and similar measures, along with an individually tailored user interface where one can see how environmentally friendly, they are compared to their neighbors, can create some competition and the like."

As a final note, he was asked if he believes that a fully optical sorting facility is ideal for municipalities moving forward.
"-One is completely dismissing the consumer and stating that there is no trust whatsoever in proper waste sorting. Additionally, it is very expensive."

According to the leader, Hallingdal Renovation is relatively administrationlight and admits that they allocate most of their resources to logistics and operations. They have taken some measures and campaigns to build trust in the system and to address the mistrust that has been spread in the media. Furthermore, it has been emphasized that they face challenges in reaching a difficult demographic, including both cabin owners and permanent residents. They have also struggled with societal norms and attitudes regarding waste. They have a simple pricing structure based on the size of the bin and currently have no direct incentives for residents. Authority is something they practically utilize very little, although they have the option to refuse collection of bins.



4.4 Avfallsservice AS (Lyngen, Storfjord, Kåfjord, Skjervøy, Nordreisa og Kvænangen)

Characteristics of the system:

- Utilizes a fee-based system which can vary according to the size of the bin.
- Households sort residual waste, plastic, organic waste, glass & metal, and paper & cardboard in individual bags, and then placed in a bin.
- Approximately 6,000 subscribers for household waste
- Curbside recycling, waste collection points and environmental stations
- Optical sorting facility
- Pickup every 2nd week

4.4.1 Trust

Avfallsservice was asked initially about their view on the consumer. The representative stated that it was somewhat varied and that they have a relatively challenging demographic to reach out to.

"It varies a lot. We have some who are very dedicated, while others simply don't care. There is still a prevailing attitude that everything ends up in the same drain. For most people, it's just about getting rid of a problem, namely waste. Even though we try to inform people that everything we throw in the trash bin is recycled to some extent, it's not always easy for this information to reach them."

The representative from Avfallsservice AS highlighted reliability, openness, and the ability to deliver a stable service as important factors in gaining the trust of the residents.

"We strive to be reliable, precise, and deliver a stable service. We also aim to be as good and transparent as possible, conveying important information. " Furthermore, he talked about specific initiatives they undertake to strengthen trust and social norms, including giving tours and providing training to school classes and other community groups, as well as sponsoring environmental certification to the schools. They also work on promoting the message that recycling makes a difference and telling a compelling story.

"(...)we also have school classes visiting, and we invite various community groups(...) We strive to create compelling narratives about why source sorting is effective. We have also sponsored schools to obtain environmental certification and incorporate these practices into their curriculum."

Avfallsservice has recognized the need for continuous work with communication and recently decided to hire a communications advisor full time. Formerly, this has just been project-based work.

"We have hired a communications advisor to help us improve the dialogue between us and the consumers."

The representative elaborated on one of their hands-on measures, which resulted in a great increase in recycling rate at the short term but underscored that it did not last for very long highlighting the need for continuous work.

"I believe that continuous encouragement is necessary. I paid a 4thgrade class to accompany us on a full collection route, around 350 subscribers, and they went door-to-door distributing merchandise and educational material, explaining recycling and why it was important, etc. In the first 6 months, the sorting rates skyrocketed, but when we conducted a waste audit after about a year, it had returned to what it was before."

When asked if he believes that the ECTS trusts in the system and that their waste is properly disposed of, he replied with a clear yes.

"Yes, I do"

Then, the question was flipped, and the representative were asked whether they have trust in the ECTS. He stated that it varied due to low recycling rates, but that they believe the average ECTS tries to some extent to exhibit good recycling behavior.

"It does vary somewhat. We observe how customers are doing, and through pick analyses and similar methods, we have been able to identify individual users who are very poor at sorting. However, these outliers are in the minority. We do feel that the majority of people have a conscience and a desire to contribute to source sorting, and even though it may not always be 100%, they do demonstrate a certain willingness."

Further, the representative was asked to explain the poor recycling rate. He explained that they have a significant amount of elderly, and that the population still lives by the old way of doing things.

"We are worse than the national average in terms of sorting. Much of that can probably be explained by demographics. We have a significant elderly population, which means they have a slightly different consumption pattern. Many of them still live in the old days where they simply threw everything in a common black garbage bag."

The representative said that they have no targeted campaigns or measures to reach them. That they are too difficult to reach, and that they must put their resources and focus elsewhere.

"No, we don't have that. We simply experience that either they sort their waste or they don't care, and we can't change them. If we want to make changes, we probably have to start with a younger generation. For example, at my home, the children are almost more concerned about recycling than I am."

4.4.2 Price

The pricing structure of Avfallsservice is mostly based on a flat fee, according to the representative. Furthermore, he stated that this fee will vary depending on the recycling rate but underscored that it is mostly made up by external costs.

"Here we have a fee system. This fee naturally increases when there is poor recycling performance, so it serves as an incentive in itself. However, since we have a relatively small number of subscriptions, the fee is mainly associated with external costs from the customer's perspective, such as vehicles, facilities, etc. Customers have the option to pay for a larger bin if needed."

The representative was then asked if there are any other monetary incentives for the ECTS to recycle properly. He mentioned a lottery in which the ECTS can recycle cardboard and have a chance to win money. Also, he noted that they used to conduct analyses of household waste and distribute prizes if it was well sorted.

"We also participate in the cardboard lottery, where you can win money by sorting beverage cartons and writing your name and number inside. We have actually had several winners from this. When people and organizations win, the mayor often comes and presents the check, creating some buzz around the winners. This creates a form of incentive. A while ago, we used to physically check people's bins as well, and if it was well sorted, we would distribute lottery tickets. However, it's difficult to assess the overall impact of these initiatives."

Lastly, he expressed concern for the new CO2-fee, combined with the potential issue regarding standardization for collection and procedures, he believes it will become incredibly expensive for the ECTS.

"If they regulate it so that we have to collect and renovate like every other big city (...) we have 8 people living on an island with the same rights for renovations as others (...) so we risk that the waste fees in the district will be completely unreasonable compared to a large city, for example."

4.4.3 Authority

According to the representative, Avfallsservice has guidelines for their subscribers but are not aware of any authority to enforce them with fines or sanctions.

"In our waste management regulations, we have rules for how waste should be sorted, but we don't have any authority for direct sanctions other than not emptying your bin, as far as I know. There has been a general discussion in the industry about introducing fines for poor sorting. It seems that many are reaching the point where they believe that nothing else works. However, the worst consequence is that we simply refrain from collecting the bin."

However, they do have the possibility to use other forms of authority (e.g., notes on bins, or refusal to pick them up). Also, he noted that there has been talks about introducing fines among the waste management companies in Norway.

"The way we exercise authority, I assume, is by implementing transparent waste bags that may make customers hesitate to dispose of items incorrectly. Alternatively, we have a new driver who has mapped the entire area and identified those who are not good at recycling. He is very proactive in putting stickers, skipping bin collections, and so on. It will be interesting to see what he achieves after working here for another six months and the impact it has."

Furthermore, he was asked about his professional opinion regarding the possibility of issuing fines/penalties for incorrect waste sorting. In response to this, he expressed a positive stance but stated that it was not a measure he was eager to enforce in practice. He believed that the existing possibility of issuing it was sufficient.

"(...) you don't want to impose fines for anything, but generally in society, if you break the law, you receive a fine for it. So it's like if you break the law or violate the rules, there should perhaps be some form of penalty or fine, right? (...) fines may be an effective measure, but it could be sufficient to just have the possibility of being able to issue them."

4.4.4 Summary

Avfallsservice, according to the representatives, has a material recycling rate of about 37-40%.

"We have about 37-38% up to 40%. So there is work to be done there."

Finally, the representatives were presented with our research question, along with an explanation, and were asked to consider what we had discussed in the interview. They were then asked for their viewpoints on this matter. They responded that they consider a combination to be the optimal solution, with a sort of fundamental regulation that allows for the possibility of imposing sanctions/fines.

"I believe that the carrot works better than the stick. I think that for many people, some form of fine could work, but not necessarily actually

giving the fine. It's more about having the possibility. So perhaps a combination of all these mechanisms along with some basic regulation."

The waste management service has a significant number of elderly individuals and directs its resources towards reaching the younger generation. Through education, sponsorship of certifications, tours, and encouragement, they strive to engage with the ECTS. The pricing structure is simple and based on the size of the bin. They do not enforce authority through fines or similar means, but they have recently hired a driver who actively attaches warning stickers to those who do not recycle properly.



4.5 ReMidt (Trøndelag & Møre og Romsdal)

Characteristics of the system

- Utilizes a fee-based system which can vary according to the size of the bin
- Households sort in 4 different bins. Glass & metal, residual waste, food waste, paper & cardboard. Plastic is left in a separate transparent bag.
- Seventeen municipalities in Nordmøre and Trøndelag with approximately 130,000 residents. That is about 68,000 subscribers.
- Curbside recycling, waste collection points and free to use environmental stations
- Large area with relatively few inhabitants
- 70-80,000 cabin residents. Approximately 30,000 cabin subscriptions.

4.5.1 Trust

The representative was first asked about his view on the consumer. To this, he responded that they have various types of consumers. He emphasized that there are consumers at all levels and that there are consumers who actively participate in the system. Furthermore, the representative noted that he experiences that the most accessible option often overrides the conscientious choices.

"We have a few who are very engaged, doing everything they can and constantly pushing us in the right direction. And then we have the majority who are quite neutral, they do as they are told, some shrug their shoulders, some frown, and some smile, but without any major fuss. We perceive very few people who think it is utter nonsense to sort (...)However, often the easiest way will trump the conscientious way."

The representative interviewed described how trust is primarily built through action and visibility. The limited exposure that residents have to their services -- mainly during their 2-4 annual visits to recycling stations and quarterly invoices -- calls for alternative methods of communication. They utilize local and regional media, though competing for attention can be challenging. They also use social media and integrate their message into the school curriculum. Specifically, fourth-grade schoolchildren spend a week learning about sorting waste and visiting recycling stations, which can influence their parents' habits at home.

"First and foremost, we believe that trust is built up through what we do and what they see. We use local and regional media quite actively to spread the good message. But we fight quite hard for space in the media, against the local newspaper on things we either do wrong or that are not perceived as correct or where it is. We try to actively use social media platforms. We have very many fourth graders in the 17 municipalities who, during a year, work a small week with the theme of source sorting and visit the recycling stations. They have it linked to their learning plan which involves visits to the recycling station and some presentation of an innovative solution. We believe that this week is very important since the children have influence on their parents, and parents care about what the children say and mean."

The representative acknowledges the misconceptions and rumors among residents about waste management, such as the confusion around plastic and residual waste being mixed and burned. They are confident, however, that the majority of the public trusts the system and is generally trying their best to comply.

"The overall impression is yes. But just before the interview, I received an email from a distressed resident asking if it is true that plastic and residual waste are mixed and sent to Sweden for burning. There are some misconceptions going around. That is of course wrong, but some people think that. We do not experience that it is the vast majority, we believe that people have quite a lot of trust in the public in general. We are a nation of great trust, and that also applies to the service we provide." One significant challenge in trusting the consumer is the complexity of the system. Sorting plastic correctly, knowing how clean it should be, and handling other materials like textiles and cardboard all create difficulties for the average consumer. There are ambiguities that need to be clarified to ensure proper waste management.

"We wish we could say the customer is always right (...) however, we trust that people are doing as well as they can. I think that's a good starting point. There are always some outliers at both ends. That's the way it is when you have the entire population as a customer base. Mostly, we experience that we trust people, but we see that the system can be difficult. It is difficult to sort plastic correctly. (...) so I think that part of the challenge is that the systems are somewhat difficult."

The influence of social norms and pressures is acknowledged as a significant factor. It's becoming socially unacceptable to deny climate change, and most people tend to follow the crowd. Hence, social pressure could be used to increase the recycling rate.

"It has become uncool to deny climate change and I think that, whether we want to admit it or not, we are herd animals, so most of us tend to follow the crowd. I believe that social pressure could be quite significant. We love to do as our neighbors do. It's not cool to stand out."

In terms of change, the representative observes that more people are concerned about recycling and reuse now than 5-7 years ago, resulting in increased use of recycling stations. However, it's not clear if this change is a result of the new four-bin system or a natural progression of societal values.

"I'm not sure if I can say that this change in attitude is due to the new enforced system. That is, from the 2-bin system to the 4-bin system, or if it happened naturally. I think I can say that many more people are concerned about reuse and recycling. And we probably see that trend has increased at all our recycling stations, or most of them, we have a container or room where you can put things for reuse. In general, people care more about the environment now than they did 5-7 years ago. I think it's partly to do with society."

4.5.2 Price

The representative discusses the pricing system and incentives used to encourage better waste management. The pricing system is structured such that fees are linked to the size of a resident's residual waste bin. The smallest bin incurs the least fee, and the pickup is once a month. Different arrangements apply for cabin or holiday homeowners, with prices varying depending on the location.

"Our entire pricing system is based on a flat fee for the differentiation of the residual waste bin. So that means we pick up residual waste once a month. If you manage with the smallest bin, you pay the lowest fee. This applies to permanent residents, for those who have a cabin, we have a slightly different arrangement."

This system encourages residents to produce less residual waste, and those who produce more have to pay more, implying they are not sorting their waste well and contributing more to pollution. The representative acknowledges the drawbacks to this system in situations where high amounts of waste are unavoidable, such as with families with young children using diapers, a material currently classified as residual waste.

If you produce a lot of residual waste, you must pay more. You're probably doing a worse job of sorting and contributing to more pollution. This can be a bit unfortunate at certain stages of life, both at the beginning and end of life with the diaper problem. The diaper takes up space and is currently considered residual waste. So that stage of life might cost you a little more when it comes to waste fees. But otherwise, you can influence a lot."

Despite these circumstances, they assert that most residents could manage with the smallest bin size. Pick analysis in Norway reveals that a significant portion of residual waste could have been sorted. Some incentive schemes exist to motivate better waste management. Residents who share a bin with their neighbor can have a 15% fee reduction. However, the pickup analysis also shows that recycling rates are lower when bins are shared. There is another 15% discount for those who manage food waste through composting.

"Pick analysis, like most pick analyses in Norway, shows that there is a frightening amount of residual waste that could and should have been sorted out. So, we know that most of our residents could have managed with the smallest option. We have a couple of schemes. You can reduce your fee by 15% if you share a bin with your neighbor. And then we also make sure that you have a little less space than if you have your own bin. Pickup analysis shows that when you share them with others, recycling becomes a bit worse. Those who handle food waste through the composting process also get a 15% discount."

The representative also mentions that residents are not charged for delivering waste to recycling stations. This practice has led to increased waste delivery to these stations, but no decrease in waste amounts at homes. They believe that waste that used to be discarded elsewhere is now being brought to recycling stations.

"You don't have to pay when you come to the recycling station. We see significantly more waste at the recycling station per inhabitant than people in a municipality that charges. We see that the amount of waste has not decreased at people's homes, but that we receive considerably more at the recycling stations. We believe the waste was there before but that it has been changed so that people come to the reuse stations instead of throwing away elsewhere."

Regarding the subscription price, the entire fee is connected to the size of the residual waste bin. They do not have a fixed fee, but the cost is differentiated based on the bin's size.

"Our entire fee is linked to the size of the residual waste bin. So we do not have any fixed fee at the bottom and then differentiated up, and we entirely differentiate according to the size of the residual waste bin."

4.5.3 Authority

The representative shifts focus to discussing the authority that their organization has in relation to waste management. They mention sanitation regulations that apply to all 17 municipalities they oversee. These regulations provide the core guidelines on how waste sorting should be conducted and the responsibilities of residents.

"We have sanitation regulations which are identical in all 17 municipalities. That's the sanitation regulations. That's the law we mainly adhere to and guide us. It states how the sorting should be and the duties of the residents. We have worked a lot with it because we believe it is important that it is the same in all municipalities so that we can operate the same in all the municipalities we operate in."

Despite the complexities of managing different municipalities, with varying costs associated with waste collection and recycling, they strive to offer the same price for all residents. The representative states that a national standard would simplify operations and ensure nationwide equality. However, their authority doesn't extend to implementing this.

"It's about streamlining and logistics and downstream. And we have worked with price regulation. Which strictly speaking is decided in the municipal council every year. We believe there should be the same price for all residents. It has not gone completely smoothly because the cost of collection and recycling is slightly different in a city like Kristiansund than it is in Midtre Gauldal municipality where people live in the most wonderful nooks and crannies. It would have been easier for us with a national standard so that we could treat all customers the same and have equality nationally. We do not have the authority for that, but at least we have gathered all the municipalities so that it should be the same."

In terms of enforcement, if residents sort waste improperly, a note is left on their bin requiring improvement. For cases of excessive residual waste, the resident is asked to improve sorting or increase their bin size. However, they have no authority to impose fines.

"If you have a lot of pollution or impurities or incorrect sorting in cardboard or plastic or glass and metal or food, then you get a note left on your bin. The next time we collect, we must see an improvement on this. The only thing we really do with residual waste if we see that you repeatedly have a lot of residual waste, that is, with your bin being full or you put out an extra bag. We have an offer that you can put out an extra bag of residual waste which you are then billed for. If we see that you do it repeatedly, then we notify and ask if you can improve your sorting, or we recommend that you increase the size of your bin, simply to make it as cheap as possible for you. We do not have the authority to issue fines today."

While the representative sees value in having the authority to issue fines, they also express concern that this could conflict with their organization's ethos of keeping a positive relationship with residents.

"I think it would have been okay to take advantage of that opportunity, but at the same time it contradicts a bit of what we stand for, and that we say we need first and foremost to get people on the team with a smile. Not everyone responds with a smile when you say, here you get a fine from us. However, maybe just the possibility of giving one would suffice."

They've also experimented with surveillance cameras connected to a guard service to monitor and intervene in cases of improper waste disposal. While this approach had some initial success, its long-term effectiveness diminished as people began to ignore the warnings. The representative notes that they're uncertain about the overall benefit of this strategy, both for their reputation and their economic efficiency.

"We tested surveillance cameras that were connected to a guard service. People sat around the clock and talked to you, and if you come to deliver wrong or leave something outside the container. Was very effective for a while and then people stopped caring. They just pulled the hood over his head and then parked the car a little further away. So we had a short-term effect. Disappointingly little effect. We are a little unsure how beneficial it is for our reputation and how beneficial it is for our economy."

4.5.4 Summary

Asked about their perspective on which of trust, price incentives, and authority is the most effective in managing the relationship between the system and the consumer, the representative suggests that a combination of all three may be most effective. They also emphasize the importance of societal trends and norms, expressing the desire for more focus on national arrangements to streamline processes.

"I wish I could say that trust was the most effective, but I don't necessarily think so. I don't think that authority is necessarily the way to go. I think it can get people to some extent do what we want. Maybe to a greater extent, but I think that you then get a bunch of angry people. So I think you need a combination of everything. I also think a lot of this is about trends in society and a bit about what is cool and not cool. I think it would have been very wise to have more of a focus on national arrangements, and to standardize regulations."

The representative seems to support the idea of standardization across Norway for waste management solutions, believing it would streamline processes and likely improve recycling rates. He mentions that the diversity of solutions currently in place is partly due to different downstream solutions—what happens to the waste after it leaves their facilities—and this depends on each municipality's resources and strategies. Standardization could mitigate this variability, making it easier to implement consistent waste management practices and policies across the country.

"That would have been fantastic. That's part of the reason why there are different solutions today. It's partly about downstream solutions. In other words, what happens to the waste when it leaves our gate? It is up to each one to ensure good downstream solutions. Environmentally friendly, but also economical. It's clear that there can be slightly different solutions from municipality to municipality. We have many examples of a standardized service offer. I'm pretty sure that if we can say, but this is how we do it in Norway, that would also have been a good argument for us. Then we come back to the authority issue."

The representative states that the recycling rate has remained relatively stable and hasn't seen any significant changes or improvements since he started. However, there has been noticeable progress in food waste recycling, which was introduced in 2016. This improvement has contributed to an increase in the overall material recycling rate. There has also been an increase in the recycling of glass and metal packaging after providing bins for these materials at home.Despite these improvements, changing people's behavior remains a challenge. The representative expresses the belief that substantial changes in recycling rates will likely require the aid of technology, specifically machines that can separate waste.

"We are at a little over 30%. For us, it has been quite flat. There has unfortunately not been a noticeably big change. What is the biggest difference is precisely the food waste in 2016. So, there we have seen a clear improvement. It helps to increase our material recycling rate, and we also see that we have been able to slim down residual waste and thus increased the material recycling rate for glass and metal packaging. When people got bins for it at home. It's difficult to change people's opinions. We view it a bit like if we are to make substantial changes in our results, we need the help of technology. Get machines that separate the trash for us." The representative expressed trust as a mechanism rooted in visibility and media coverage and mentions the competition for attention is difficult today. ReMidt integrates their message through school curriculum and social media, but no other active measures are taken. A weakness mentioned is how the complexity of the system makes the consumer untrustworthy in the eyes of ReMidt as the recycling knowledge is too low for the ECTS. The representative looks at social norms and pressure as the reason trust is built between the ECTS and the reverse system. The system encourages the ECTS to produce less residual waste by having different prices for the different sizes of bins. To further encourage the ECTS to recycle, the price is lowered by 15% for those who manage their own food waste with composting and a further 15% if they share a bin with a neighbor, resulting in an overall smaller bin per household. As for authority, the 17 municipalities have the same regulations to keep a uniform authority for the ECTS managed by ReMidt. The regulations act as a guideline and show the responsibilities of the ECTS. ReMidt does not use fines as a tool to enforce regulations as they do not have the authority, but mentions a softer form of leaving notes on the bins where recycling efforts are lacking. They have also experimented with surveillance earlier but did not see a cost benefit as the consumer managed to bypass the cameras over time.



4.6 Fosen Renovasjon (Trøndelag)

Characteristics of the system:

- Utilizes a fee-based system which can vary according to the size of the bin.
- Households sort in 3 different bins. Residual waste, food waste, paper & cardboard. Plastic is left in a separate transparent bag. Glass & metal at waste collection points.
- Food waste every 14 days, residual waste and paper & cardboard once a month.Plastic is collected with paper & cardboard.
- Seventeen municipalities in Nordmøre and Trøndelag with approximately 25,000 residents. About 11.000 subscribers, and 5,000 are cabin residents.
- Curbside recycling, waste collection points and free to use environmental stations.

4.6.1 Trust

The representative was first asked about his view on the consumer. To this, he responded that they have consumers across the entire spectrum.

"We probably have the whole line from very interested to the ones we would expect a lot from, but do not care enough to use any effort. We see that most of our consumers are good at recycling on average and also a group that simply does not care. There are some customers that ask for the details to be sure that everything is recycled correctly with a lot of interest in recycling. We probably have the whole range."

Furthermore, he discusses the measures taken to engage residents and foster trust and active participation. They mention the use of direct communication through notes on bins and occasional mailings, acknowledging that capturing people's attention is becoming more challenging in the digital age. "We do work a bit with information and have employed someone who will have that task now. The consumer is becoming more and more difficult to reach because of the competition with everything else that's happening on everyone's phones. Still we send some information in the mailbox, because the competition is less. What we have the most faith in is the note that we hang on the bin. It is directly to the customer and thus a greater chance that it will be read."

For educational initiatives, they offer schools the opportunity to visit recycling stations and provide insights on waste management. The representative admits that historically, they haven't dedicated significant resources towards building trust, but it's a growing focus area.

"We have sent out invitations to schools so they can contact us in relation to what suits their teaching and come to recycling stations, join a tour and there we inform them about what happens with the waste. We probably don't use a lot of resources on that and we have not historically used much time on it. So that's more of a focus now."

Customer surveys are conducted to gauge satisfaction levels, and the results indicate that the majority of residents trust that their waste is being managed appropriately. While they joke in the office about not fully trusting customers' sorting abilities – pointing out a significant amount of residual waste that should have been sorted – they nonetheless acknowledge the challenges consumers face, particularly with different types of plastics.

"We do conduct surveys on customer satisfaction, so we have pretty good figures on it. Overall, customer satisfaction is high. We also look through the waste to see what comes in. So, we do have the answer regarding the waste. But then, it is also difficult for consumers to test what type of plastic it is. So we jokingly say in the office that we should never fully trust the customers. There's still a lot in the residual waste that should've been sorted out, which we aim to do. It's one of the main arguments for why we, in Trøndelag, continue to work on a post-sorting plant. Trondheim has had plastic sorting since the mid-90s, and we're now at about 6-7 kilos per resident, while the total is 26 kilos per resident. Despite Trondheim having run numerous campaigns, the levels have only increased marginally."

4.6.2 Price

The representative explains that their economic incentive system is designed to promote recycling. Residents are charged based on the size of their residual waste bin - smaller bins attract lower fees.

"We have a fee system that follows the residual waste bin, so if you have a small residual waste bin, it's cheaper."

Looking ahead, they consider the strategic implications of the EU's requirements for a 65% recycling rate and an incineration fee on residual waste. They note the challenges associated with a flat fee, given that it would unfairly burden those who are sorting and recycling effectively. The potential solutions they mention include a post-sorting facility or a differentiated price based on customer behavior, either via payment per emptying or payment by weight, a PAYT system. If an incineration fee is introduced, they believe it would necessitate further action.

"(...) especially the co2 fee, where it becomes difficult to have a flat fee simply if you do not have a post-sorting facility. Then it will cost too much per inhabitant. It then becomes unfair if everyone has to pay the same price because those who sort poorly and generate a lot of garbage will account for many times the cost. There are then two alternatives I see. Either a post-sorting facility, or to differentiate the price based on customer ability (...) If you throw away a lot of residual waste, it should cost you a lot. If an incineration fee is introduced, there is no longer any doubt that something needs to be done."

4.6.3 Authority

The representative discusses their approach to the use of authority to promote better recycling habits. They utilize a feedback system by placing notes on trash cans, which are targeted at households that are either doing an exceptional job at sorting their waste or perhaps not sorting correctly.

"There are different deviations. We run some campaigns from time to time, such as what we are probably going to do this summer where those who have very little food waste in their food waste bin receive a note stating whether you are very good at sorting or maybe you are throwing away incorrectly."

While they do have the power to impose sanctions or fines, this is not used extensively. Rather, they might send invoices for extra bags if the bin volume is exceeded, or have a conversation with households that consistently overfill their bins.

"Yes, we do have the authority to give fines, but we don't implement it to a large extent. Extra bags are put forward if they exceed the bin volume, then we send an invoice for the corresponding amount we have to pay to dispose of the extra residual waste. If the bin is overfilled time after time, we will have a conversation with the household. After the conversation, we encourage them to switch to a larger bin. If not, then we invoice."

There's some enforcement related to collection points, especially in shared living situations where a common collection point might be mandated. However, if a resident throws everything into the residual waste bin, the only consequence is that they have to pay for the size of the bin. The representative suggests this is a challenge in terms of exercising authority, as they're trying to motivate customers rather than imposing strict rules.

"An example of what we enforce is in relation to turnaround places and such. The regulation states that we can require some people to have a common collection point and then the next instance for customers is the complaints board. We see in other companies that they do not have the authority to decide on the customer's collection point and must go through the municipality, which takes a long time to get through."

However, they don't rule out the potential benefits of a more stringent system. While they believe that information and encouragement are crucial, they also think that stricter regulations might be beneficial, provided they are targeted correctly.

"The information to the customers should not always be thank you for sorting so nicely. I'm not averse to taking a different tone if someone does not sort their waste. I think it's an interesting thought to have stricter national requirements as long as it is correctly targeted at those concerned. It's about ripping off the plaster when introducing a new bin. People will always react but most will quite quickly adapt."

4.6.4 Summary

On a final note, the representative talks about the balance between the three mechanisms of norms, trust, and authority. They feel there should always be a combination of the three, but currently, authority is underutilized. They emphasize the importance of providing free delivery at recycling stations to increase the recycling rate.

"Well, I think there must always be a combination of the three. Yes, they all work in their own way. I think authority is used a little too little. I also think that free delivery at recycling stations is an important part of increasing the recycling rate. In the countryside, some people have the alternative of burning garbage or throwing it down a slope, so that part speaks for us having free delivery. With free delivery, it will be a better alternative than doing something else with it, but if the delivery is not free, it will end up elsewhere. Although there will always be some small construction companies who sneak something through for free." The representative reports that their material recovery rate is just over 40%, an increase from just over 30% thanks to the introduction of source sorting for food waste. This transition to +food waste sorting was gradual and faced some challenges due to issues with containers and moist waste. However, they've been continually working to improve it.

"The sorting rate for material recovery is now just over 40%. It had been just over 30% for many years, but we introduced source sorting of food two years ago and moved over to just over 40%."

The representative from Fosen discussed how the task of reaching the ECTS is getting harder because of how easily everyone can be reached and how Fosen is getting drowned in too many actors. They therefore mention their education initiative as the most important initiative to push out knowledge and gain the trust of the ECTS. There is not anything else Fosen highlights as trust building initiatives. Price as an incentive is only present in differentiating prices based on bin size, but nothing more. As for authority the company uses notes that they leave on the bins of ECTS that either recycle exceptional or maybe not sorting correctly. The representative highlights how the company wishes to motivate the ECTS and not impose strict rules and regulations. He does however see the potential benefit of a stricter system as long as the regulations are targeted correctly and mentions how the company uses invoices if the waste is overfilled multiple times.



4.7 Overview

Renovation	Trust	Price	Aut	Material	*Effective
Company /				recycling	governance?
Municipality				rate	
Avfall sør	3	3	1	51%	No
Oslo	2	1	1	40%	No
Hallingdal	1	1	1	32%	No
Renovasjon					
Avfallsservice AS	2	1	2	40%	No
ReMidt	2	1	1	32%	No
Fosen Renovasjon	2	1	1	41%	No

*The determination of whether it is effective governance or not is based on the material recycling rate. Furthermore, the development of this rate in recent years has also been taken into account (e.g., a significant yearly improvement, stagnation or decrease in recycling rate)

5.0 Discussion

The study was based on the premise that a recycling behavior gap exists (Jalil et al., 2016; Flygansvær et al., 2021), and the authors aimed to examine how to effectively govern the relationship between the reverse supply chain and the ECTS to achieve sustainable recycling behavior. The foundation for governing this relationship was established through the three control mechanisms of trust, price, and authority (Bradach & Eccles, 1989).

In our examination of how the relationship between the end-consumer-turnedsupplier (ECTS) and the reverse supply chain can be effectively governed, several key factors emerge that are critical to promoting sorting efficiency and encouraging sustainable recycling behavior. These include the role of price, trust and authority, and balancing the mechanisms to govern the relationship with the ECTS, and the possible move towards post-sorting facilities.

The purpose of the discussion is to analyze and interpret the findings obtained in the study, specifically examining their alignment with our research. By critically assessing the data and their implications, and reviewing them in relation to existing literature, this section aims to provide a deeper understanding of how to govern the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse supply chain, and contribute to the validation or refinement of our formulated hypothesis.

Trust

In present society, trust is often viewed as a crucial mechanism to encourage responsible behavior (Haugland & Torger, 1994). However, despite its prominence in the literature, our findings suggest that the effectiveness of trust in promoting source sorting is debatable, particularly given the demanding nature of recycling and its low ranking on many individuals' priority lists (Stoknes, 2015; Thaler and Sunstein , 2008).

The results indicate that trust is the most prominent mechanism among the majority of waste management companies. When it comes to managing the relationship between the system and the consumer, there has been a primary focus on the trust mechanism. Literature emphasizes the importance of the trust mechanism in facilitating and promoting sustainable behavior (Mintz & Kurman, 2019; Flygansvær et al., 2021; Pentayya, 2013; Pedersen, 2020). However, the results also show that trust alone is not sufficient to achieve the desired efficiency goals.

Economic transaction theory (Williamson, 1985) and relational contract theory (Macneil, 1980) recognize that trust often develops within an already established relationship, where price and authority mechanisms have played a role in transaction governance. It is emphasized that repeated positive experiences and fulfillment of obligations form the basis for building trust.

Furthermore, that trust can function as a governance mechanism that complements and strengthens other mechanisms (Haugland & Reve, 1994), and it can play a crucial role in improving collaboration and enabling long-term mutually beneficial relationships (Bradach & Eccles, 1989).

In Norway, a fundamental contract between the waste collector/municipality and the ECTS that involves a price mechanism and a form of authority through the establishment of guidelines. However, these guidelines have not been particularly enforced, and there has been little to no sanctions or repercussions if the ECTS does not uphold their part of the agreement. Meaning that despite knowing that the behavior from the ECTS is flawed through waste analysis, and hence a "breach" of contract, there is no real consequence for them. Especially with the poorly sorted residual waste which requires more time and resources to analyze. Since repeated positive experiences and fulfillment of obligations form the basis for building trust in a relationship, the very foundation, according to both economic transaction theory (Williamson, 1985) and relational contract theory (Macneil, 1980), is broken.

Despite this, trust has been a primary mechanism from the beginning. There has been a focus on building trust in the system, informing about processes, creating transparency, and encouraging sustainable behavior. One of the goals has been to establish shared norms within the population. Waste collectors have attempted to make source sorting as easily accessible and achievable for the consumer as possible. However, as the results indicate, this is not sufficient to ensure good recycling behavior. Waste collectors are aware that consumers do not recycle as well as they claim or as well as they should, without employing many other means besides trust-based governing mechanisms.

Both Avfall Sør and Oslo Municipality have conducted consumer surveys and received responses indicating that the majority of consumers trust that waste is being handled correctly by the waste collectors. Similarly, all the other four waste collectors also feel that they have the trust of the majority. Hence, it is evident that mistrust is not the reason for poor recycling behavior. When the interviewees were asked about their trust in the ECTS, it varied, as their analysis shows that recycling is not as good as it should be. Normally, in an economic inter-firm relationship, sanctions would be imposed or there would be a threat of replacing the underperforming company. However, the relationship between waste collectors and consumers is mutually dependent, and waste collectors rely on consumers as much as consumers rely on them. Therefore, much of the mitigating strategy used has been to increase efforts with the trust mechanism. More information, nudging, and other social measures have been implemented, but they have not significantly improved the situation.

Furthermore, Mintz & Kurman (2019) highlighted that effective public awareness and cooperation is crucial for successful and cost-effective recycling programs. Also, their findings underscore the need for culturally adapted messages to enhance pro-environmental behavior within communities, hence highlighting the challenges in standardizing and employing trust as an effective mechanism. From our result we also see that the heavy utilization of the trust mechanism can be resource intensive. Renovation companies like Avfall Sør and Oslo spend a considerable amount of resources to promote trust. An example of this is the pilot project Oslo conducted in Romsås. The representative explained that this yielded good results during the first two months when they were still present and promoting it, but they did not have the budget to investigate whether this effect persisted after they withdrew.

An additional challenge to using trust as a mechanism is the need for multiple information channels to foster a balanced perspective (Pentayya, 2013). Moreover, the absence of trust can be destructive to a recycling system, necessitating constant maintenance and reinforcement. Pedersen (2020) notes that while trust can contribute to long-term sustainability, it must be carefully managed and not relied upon as the primary tool for promoting responsible behavior.

Existing literature shows that a certain utilization of trust should be present for it not to be disruptive (Jiesper Pedersen, 2020). Our research findings align with this perspective, as ReMidt and Hallingdal Renovation both score low in

recycling rates and trust efforts. The representative from Hallingdal argues that they have a challenging demographic to reach and highlights the fact that they have low administrative capacity, resulting in a trade-off between effectiveness and resource demands. However, Avfallsservice faces similar challenges with difficult geography and few subscriptions, but they demonstrate that their work on building trust has yielded results in terms of the material recycling rate. This supports the claim that a certain level of trust is necessary for an effective system.

Furthermore, we also see that the effectiveness of the mechanism can plateau. In the interviews Avfall Sør and Oslo reported that there has been little to no significant increase in the material recycling rate in recent years. This suggests that despite ongoing efforts and the allocation of resources towards implementing this mechanism, its effectiveness appears to have limitations. There seem to be diminishing returns when the investment in the mechanism increases above a certain level.

Avfall Sør provides an example of this with a campaign they conducted on composting food waste, which initially yielded very positive results, but the outcomes started to diminish over time after the "hype" faded. Several of the representatives mentioned observing a clear change in behavior during the campaign but found it challenging to sustain this effect once the campaign ended. This phenomenon is not uncommon in behavioral psychology, where there can be a distinct behavior change at the beginning of major campaigns or news coverage, but the interest wanes as time goes on (Stoknes, 2015).

Incorporating our findings with existing literature, we confirm that a fundamental level of trust mechanism is essential to promote sustainable recycling behavior. At the same time, it also shows that there are diminishing returns, meaning that high resource investment does not necessarily result in equally high long-term effects. It is clear that the trust mechanism needs support from other governance mechanisms to achieve a higher level of efficiency in waste sorting.

Price

The literature states that incentives can be powerful tools for promoting appropriate behavior (Kamenica, E. 2012). Our literature review reveals several alternatives for incentivizing proper recycling behavior, but Pay-As-You-Throw (PAYT) is the most prevalent among them. According to research, the correct implementation and execution of a PAYT system can lead to improved source sourcing (Morlok et al., 2017). However, the literature is inconclusive regarding whether it will result in a general decrease in waste generation (Batllevell & Hanf, 2008; Werf et al., 2020).

The results indicate that the price mechanism is rarely used. Very few respondents incentivize proper behavior other than offering a variable fee based on the size of the waste bin. According to Alzamora & Barros (2020) this is one of the forms a volume-based PAYT-system can be designed. However one can argue whether a variable fee based on the size of the garbage bin would provide an incentive to generate as little residual waste as possible, the price difference between them is often so small, about 1000kr difference per year, that it does not provide sufficient incentive. Also, several representatives mention that the majority of households have the same size of bin (120-340 liters), and considering the relatively low rate of material recycling, this seems to be sufficient even for those who are not proficient at source separation.

Other than that, a couple of respondents mention having a lottery for cardboard recycling, and Avfallsservice states that they have also distributed lottery tickets in the past when they found well-sorted waste during collection analysis. However, the authors argue that these measures are not sufficient to claim that they effectively incentivize proper recycling behavior, as they are only minor gestures. Hence, all but Avfall Sør scores a 1 out of 5 on the price-mechanism.

Avfall Sør is the candidate that has a payment structure most similar to a PAYT system. Here, individuals pay ECTS every time their residual waste and food waste bins are emptied. The economic incentive lies in the possibility of achieving a lower price by increasing the source separation of their waste, resulting in minimal residual waste, or by having cleaner food waste. This system can be characterized as a volume-based PAYT-system (Alzamora & Barros, 2020).

According to the literature, a PAYT-system has the potential to increase source separation among the population (Morlok et al., 2017), and other researchers believe it can also lead to a reduction in waste generation as it becomes more expensive to dispose of larger amounts of waste (Batllevell & Hanf, 2008). However, the results indicate that Avfall Sør is not equally convinced of the system's effectiveness. They are uncertain about the exact effectiveness of this implementation and do not consider it a clear strategy going forward to improve source separation.

"(...) it is very flexible and convenient for those who want to save some money, but can also be a complacency for those who dont care (...) we will investigate this model, and see if we should switch to something else (...) the recycling rate has been improved, but it is not easy to attribute this improvement to either the variable fee (...) or other factors"

At Avfall Sør, the average cost for their customers is approximately 40 NOK per emptying, according to the representative. As the representative made it clear that it does not appear to be a particularly strong incentive, they were asked why they don't choose to increase this cost to create an even stronger incentive. The representative stated that they did not consider this a good alternative, as they suspected it could create significant problems with the media, the public, and, in the worst case, lead to increased illegal dumping of waste and similar issues.

These concerns have also been raised in the literature by Heller & Vatn (2017), who found that illegal dumping of waste increased after the implementation of

a PAYT system. However, the representative from Avfall Sør also mentions that the population is often resistant to significant changes in the beginning but tends to adapt over time. The literature also supports this, with studies such as Emmanouil et al. (2022) indicating that public support for environmental taxes and fees can increase through exposure. So it is difficult to definitively determine whether such an increase would only lead to negative consequences or if it could be accepted over time.

Despite Avfall Sør being the only one currently implementing the price mechanism, several representatives see it as a possibility in the future. They have been informed about an increased CO2 tax, and now they have to explore other alternatives than flat fee-based solutions to make it fairer for the ECTS, following a 'polluter pays principle,'.

"(...) However, the government has introduced a CO2 tax on the incineration of residual waste, and the increased cost will be passed on to the consumer (...) It's possible that when this tax comes into full effect, we may need to consider structural changes in the fee system, where the actual amount of residual waste per household is taken into greater account." -Hallingdal representative

Despite the announcement of this tax increase, none of the other five had a clear plan on how to properly incentivize through variable fees. The representative from Hallingdal, for instance, acknowledges the need for a change in the fee system, but presents no concrete strategy. Hence, an increased utilization of the price mechanism may be a necessity for these waste management companies in the future.

Authority

From the results, it is evident that authority is rarely used consistently among all waste management companies. Some representatives exercise authority by refusing to collect the garbage bin if it is poorly sorted, while others use stickers or similar methods to inform consumers that the sorting is inadequate, serving as a kind of warning. Upon further inquiry during the interviews, it becomes apparent that this often applies to waste that is visibly poorly sorted, such as plastic packaging in the glass and metal bin or a significant amount of glass in the food waste bin. The representatives mention that they do not open the bags of residual waste to examine the sorting. Thus, one can assume that authority is exerted on what is easily observable, while the residual waste typically remains untouched and can therefore be relatively poorly sorted, which is also evident in the recycling rates among the six representatives.

"(...) that in the residual waste bin, there is 50-70% of raw materials or other items that could have been sorted at the source is the biggest challenge now. (...) and now we need to extract more value from the residual waste to increase material recycling. We need people to make a greater effort in sorting." -Avfall Sør-

The comments from Avfall Sør underscore a significant concern in the recycling process: the residual waste bin. They note that 50-70% of items within the residual waste bin could have been sorted elsewhere. As Avfall Sør utilizes both the price and trust mechanisms, this finding indicates the need for more utilization of authority to increase the material recycling rate.

However, as noted, there seems to be a lack of effective enforcement of sorting regulations. Even when faced with poorly sorted residual waste, waste management companies are not exercising their authority to control the situation effectively. This is primarily due to their current practice of not inspecting or opening the bags within the residual waste bins. This implies a lack of investigative actions to enforce recycling regulations, making their control over the recycling process weaker. It is natural to assume that this is a time-consuming and resource-intensive process, and therefore not a priority at present. However, the comments from Avfall Sør, as well as the material recycling rate among the renovation companies, prove that it is a necessity. It is

also evident that consumers likely do not consider having poorly sorted residual waste as a violation of guidelines or a serious offense due to the frequency of poorly sorted residual waste.

Thus, Avfall Sør's statement substantiates the notion that the control mechanism of authority is not being sufficiently utilized in the current system. It indicates a need for waste management companies to exercise more authority, perhaps through more stringent enforcement of sorting rules, to improve recycling and subsequently increase material recycling.

If one looks at the literature, the impact of increased authority through stringent laws in the context of recycling has not been much covered, but some research has been conducted. Viscusi et al. (2023) discovered a consistent relationship between recycling laws and recycling rates, suggesting that recycling laws have a significant influence. States with stricter recycling laws tend to exhibit higher recycling rates compared to those with less stringent laws. Additionally, studies have indicated that states with stringent laws and deposit policies have higher recycling rates for paper, cans, glass, and plastic, as well as greater recycling rates for plastic bottles (Viscusi et al., 2013; Viscusi et al., 2014).

Despite this, many of the waste collectors we interviewed stated that they prefer the "carrot over the stick". They have reservations about more drastic measures such as issuing fines or significantly increasing the price level of the residual waste bin. They highlight the possibility of illegal dumping of waste, the breakdown of the relationship they have invested a lot of time and resources in building, and fear that it may do more harm than good.

However, research has revealed a correlation between recycling laws and recycling norms, as households that actively engage in recycling or reside in states with stricter recycling laws are more likely to express dissatisfaction with neighbors who dispose of recyclable materials in their trash (Viscusi et al., 2011; Huber et al., 2018). This suggests that while increased authority may cause temporary harm to the relationship and trust-building process, it can still have a positive long-term reinforcing effect on norms within the population. Also, Brown & Johnstone (2014) showed that support for such new systems increases with experience. This was also the case in Kristiansand, where the representative explained that the population was skeptical and dissatisfied with the fee per collection at first, but it eventually improved over time. Several representatives have mentioned that new system implementations are often met with some resistance but eventually settle over time.

According to the literature, implementing stricter authority might not imply a complete breakdown of the relationship. Moreover, it suggests that the ECTS are adaptable, and that the support for a new system seems to be increasing over time. It is important to mention that none of them have properly tested the long-term effects of increased authority, so the fear is currently based only on speculation.

Furthermore, Fluet & Mungan (2022) observed that when an actor feels that their actions are being observed, social norms and pressure strongly influence behavior, and the need for authority is not as significant. They also found that in situations with low levels of observation, stricter and more explicit authority is necessary. If we draw parallels from this theory to the situation of waste management companies, bins such as glass & metal, food waste, and cardboard & paper are highly observable, and therefore, the use of authority is less necessary. However, residual waste, on the other hand, is less observable and requires a more explicit authority, as suggested by Fluet & Mungan (2022). Therefore, it is paradoxical that they consistently use more explicit authority to check the other bins while leaving the residual waste untouched.

Nevertheless, there are differences among our representatives and their collection methods. Some have optical sorting facilities and therefore use a single bin for all waste, with sorting done through labeled bags rather than separate bins. The point illustrated above, however, is still applicable to this type of collection, as the residual waste is mostly sorted in white bags in a communal bin. It is worth mentioning that Avfallsservice recently implemented transparent bags for residual waste and believes that this can contribute to increased sorting. This is in the early stages, so the representative had no results on the impact of this change.

Furthermore, there is also a significant difference between the cities and municipalities in Norway both in size, demography and population. There are cities and municipalities with relatively dense populations and a high degree of anonymity, as well as municipalities with fewer residents and relatively low anonymity. The research suggests that trust in the form of social norms and pressure may play a greater role among users when there is greater visibility in the population, and that stricter laws may have stronger effect in larger cities. However, paradoxically, it will be more challenging to maintain and empower authority in larger cities with more anonymity. For instance, in Oslo, with its many residential blocks, it would be more difficult to hold individual consumers accountable for poor recycling practices. Here, one could consider alternative solutions for exercising authority, such as having the housing cooperatives themselves take responsibility for ensuring proper recycling.

As economic transaction theory (Williamson, 1985) tells us, there should be a fundamental governance through the use of price and authority for a relationship to develop. As mentioned earlier, the relationship between the system and ECTS largely begins and operates on trust, as evident from the results. Furthermore, the waste management companies and consumers are mutually dependent on each other, and therefore it is not possible to replace the consumer in this case despite poorly sorted waste. Thus, it is clear that a stricter use of authority should be considered to support the price and trust mechanisms in order to create a more sustainable and well-functioning system. Regarding the significant investment in trust and the fear of jeopardizing it with a stronger grip, this is a trade-off that needs to be evaluated. As the literature mentions, a clearer authority in the long run does not necessarily need to result in a complete breakdown of the relationship with the consumer. It is not unreasonable to assume that the population would have responded negatively to an increasing level of authority that requires them to invest more energy and time in recycling. However, based on the literature and the respondents' own answers, it is not unreasonable to assume that this is something the ECTS could have adapted to over time either.
Governance

Trust is the most prominent control mechanism utilized by the waste management companies we interviewed. It is a low-risk, low-reward control mechanism within waste management governance. It poses minimal potential backlash from consumers compared to other mechanisms, such as price and authority, which can elicit stronger negative responses. However, while trustbuilding efforts are generally well-received, our results indicate that they often yield modest improvements in recycling behavior.

At the end of each interview, we asked all the representatives, based on what we had discussed, what they believed could be effective governance. To this, the majority of them expressed a suspicion that a combination of mechanisms could be optimal.

"(...) I think that maybe a combination of the three should be good. I believe in trust and spreading a positive message, but that you also need authority and price as well." -Avfall Sør representative

""I think a balanced composition of all of them is ideal" - Hallingdal representative

"Well, I think there must always be a combination of the three. Yes, they all work in their own way. I think authority is used a little too little." -Fosen representative

They recognize the importance of employing a balanced utilization of control mechanisms, yet they do not act accordingly. This further reinforces the earlier point that the trust mechanism represents a low-risk, low-reward approach, highlighting the presence of risk aversion among waste management companies in Norway.

Significant investments in trust, both financially and in terms of time, do not appear to generate satisfactory returns, as evidenced by consistently low recovery rates. Based on the insights gathered from the literature, findings, and discussion, we have formulated the following proposition: To prioritize trust as a control mechanism is not sufficient to effectively govern the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse system. A more balanced governance approach, incorporating greater utilization of price and authority mechanisms, is necessary.

This proposition highlights the need for a comprehensive approach that incorporates trust, price, and authority as interconnected control mechanisms. It emphasizes the importance of balancing these mechanisms to achieve effective governance and address the challenges associated with the ECTS-reverse system relationship. By utilizing price and authority mechanisms, this proposition aims to enhance source sorting efficiency and promote sustainable waste management.

We argue that the key to achieving a higher recycling rate hinges on a more balanced approach to governance. Avfall Sør, achieving a recycling rate of 51%, offers a prime example. With scores of 3 in trust effort, 3 in price effort, and 1 in authority, Avfall Sør demonstrates a more balanced approach compared to other renovation companies. However, their representative still identifies residual waste as the main issue, indicating that hurdles remain despite effort being more evenly distributed in the control mechanisms.

Further, other regions exhibit lower recycling rates and less balanced utilization of the control mechanism. For instance, Oslo, with a recycling rate of 40%, scores 2 in trust, 1 in price, and 1 in authority. Hallingdal Renovation and ReMidt, both with a recycling rate of 32%, score 1 in trust, 1 in price, and 1 in authority, and suffers from underutilization of governance itself. Avfallsservice AS, despite scoring 2 in both trust and authority and 1 in price, mirrors Oslo's recycling rate of 40%. The newly implemented authority-driven actions at Avfallsservice AS have yet to reflect in their recycling rate, suggesting that the effects of such strategies may require time to materialize as the actions done have only recently been implemented. Furthermore, when questioned about future strategies to reach this target, the renovation companies primarily proposed minor projects that are unlikely to bring about significant improvements. However, besides minor projects, several renovation companies are considering a state-of-the-art post-sorting facility. This means that there is less need for source sorting at the ECTS-level, as sorting will be done by a machine at the facility. The main argument for such a facility among the representatives was that it could have the potential to significantly improve the material recycling rate.

However, we argue that post-sorting facilities themselves can be a doubleedged sword. While they might improve overall recycling efficiency, they may also inadvertently discourage sustainable behavior among the ECTS, as they would no longer be required to source-sort their waste to the current extent. The representative from Hallingdal Renovasjon underscored the fact that it shows a complete disbelief in the ECTS and their ability to source sort, and that it is expensive as well.

A sorting facility would likely be more beneficial in connection with the three largest cities in Norway. Implementing such a facility in Finnmark, for example, would involve sorting a minimal amount of waste and would need to be strategically located between the cities up there to have an effect. This raises the discussion of whether it is sustainable to transport waste over long distances, who would bear the cost, and it also opens up the discussion of different practices in different cities. What message does it convey when all the major cities in Norway have such a facility and hence a low focus on source sorting, while smaller cities are required to use 5 bins for waste sorting? Such facilities, as mentioned, may have a significant impact on the recycling rate. However, they should be implemented with great care.

Further, we argue that the fact that several of the waste management companies have contemplated implementing post-sorting facilities suggests that they recognize the current governing style may not be efficient. Further, implying that the existing level of trust between consumers and the system is damaged. The lack of coherence in the responses regarding long-term strategies, coupled with the diversity of the proposed solutions, illustrates a prevailing unawareness about how to achieve the national target of a 65% recycling rate. Thereby, strengthening the argument that there is a need for more utilization of price and authority.

We suggest that viable options may be the establishment of national standards and regulations, and the inclusion of additional authorities in the process. A national standardization of what waste to source sort is something the representatives acknowledged could help. Also, a national regulation which allowed for the waste management companies to enforce more authority is something several of the representatives welcomed

Additionally, a carefully implemented weight based PAYT-system can potentially have a strong effect on source-sorting efficiency when the CO2-fee increases. With the increasing price on emissions, the fee for waste collection will also increase. This increase in fees can be best utilized by implementing variable fees on waste, thereby incentivizing the ECTS to properly sort their waste. However, with regards to waste generation, literature is inconclusive as to whether it affects waste generation in general or not (Dahlen & Lagerkvist, 2010; Morlok et al., 2017).

These measures integrate elements of price and authority controls, and we argue that these can potentially offer a comprehensive, balanced solution that offsets the shortcomings of a trust-dominated system.

However, the notion of increasing the utilization of price without challenges. On the one hand, measures such as the 'polluter pays principle,' could potentially drive a more fair payment system and increase incentives for the ECTS to recycle properly. On the other hand, it can have a negative impact initially, and can also lead to illegal dumping from those who produce the most waste (Heller & Vatn, 2017).

Further, relying too heavily on authority could deter some consumers, potentially reducing overall participation in the recycling process. For instance, despite the potential benefits, the establishment of a more strict national regulation also carries considerable risks and challenges. For one, the introduction of more stringent regulations could potentially lead to 'compliance fatigue' among the ECTS, ultimately discouraging their participation in the recycling process (Reuters, 2020). Excessive regulatory oversight might foster a sense of resentment, undermining the very trust that is crucial to successful recycling programs. Also, implementing national standards may cause problems for systems that are not capable of adhering to the new standardization. As our results have shown, there is a major demographic and geographic difference between the various reverse systems across Norway, and a one-size-fits-all strategy may require significant resources to implement.

Moreover, implementing national waste management regulations presents a challenging proposition for political parties. While such regulations may be beneficial for effective waste management, they may not be a popular policy among voters. Waste management, although critical, is often not a top-tier issue for most voters who may be more focused on topics like the economy, healthcare, and education. Political parties may not be eager to incorporate national waste management regulations into their campaign platform due to the risk of voters perceiving such actions in negative taste.

However, literature also claims that stringent laws have an effect, and could also help support and enhance the effect of the other governance mechanisms (Viscusi et al., 2023; Emmanouil et al., 2022; Fluet & Mungan, 2022; Williamson, 1985). For instance, in the PAYT-system, there are opportunities to cut corners or evade responsibility unless clear authority is exercised to monitor and hold all participants accountable. We argue that the increased utilization of authority can also reassure residents that everyone is doing their part for the environment, and that everyone is subject to equal guidelines and held equally accountable. This can help create a fair system where all residents are on equal footing. Demonstrating how governance mechanisms can be integrated to enhance each other's effectiveness (Bradach & Eccles, 1989).

Furthermore, we argue that implementing such regulations on a national level might help, to some extent, exempt the renovation companies themselves from the blame or dissatisfaction from the ECTS seeing as it is a regulation passed by the government. Therefore, this might not harm the relationship between the system and the waste collector as much as it potentially could have.

Considering that most representatives mentioned that their main concern with exerting more authority was related to damaging the relationship with the consumers, it could be of great help if this is implemented at the top level and applies to everyone living under Norwegian law. Furthermore, it may help strengthen the theory that exposure can lead to acceptance and strengthen positive social norms (Emmanouil et al.,2022 ; Viscusi et al., 2011; Huber et al., 2018) considering it applies to all Norwegian inhabitants.

"(...) you don't want to impose fines for anything, but generally in society, if you break the law, you receive a fine for it. So it's like if you break the law or violate the rules, there should perhaps be some form of penalty or fine, right?" -Avfallsservice representative

6. Conclusion

The theory of governance within and between firms and systems is well-known and well-studied. However, it has not been used in the literature to explain the recycling behavior gap among the ECTS. In this thesis, we apply economic transaction theory and governance theory to understand how to reduce the gap between intention and action among the ECTS through effective control.

As participants in a reverse system, we can also refer to ourselves as ECTS. Based on literature and our own experiences, the authors have initial insights into how this relationship is governed and have a suspicion that it was inefficient and unbalanced. Literature states that relationships are initially governed through formalities such as price and authority, and that trust is something that is built over time. In contrast to this, the governance of the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse system starts and continues primarily with trust as the main mechanism.

From our findings, we confirm that governance relies heavily on trust and that this is not effective in increasing the material recycling rate and promoting sustainable recycling behavior. The findings add weight to our assertion that to prioritize trust may not serve as a sufficient control mechanism. Additionally, our research reveals that the renovation companies are uncertain about how to achieve the EU target of 65% material recycling and indicates a growing inclination among stakeholders to explore alternative strategies. This tendency signals an increasing awareness of the limitations of a system that is overly dependent on trust. While trust plays an undeniable role in the relationship between the ECTS and the reverse supply chain, over-reliance on it appears to be a limitation in the current system.

The authors discuss how the control mechanisms of trust, price, and authority should be utilized to effectively govern the relationship. Drawing from literature and our findings to address the research question, we argue that effective governance necessitates a departure from trust-centric strategies and adopting a greater utilization of price and authority. Additionally, we propose an integrated approach that combines these control mechanisms in a balanced manner through a PAYT-system and the implementation of national regulations and increased enforcement of authority, fostering enhanced source sorting efficiency and promoting sustainable recycling behavior. It is important to note that this does not imply a complete abandonment of trust, but rather an approach which acknowledges the fundamental limitations of solely relying on the mechanism. Furthermore, an approach that empowers waste management actors, who are disadvantaged in this relationship, to have greater control and influence over the outcome, as manifested in the material recycling rate.

6.1 Theoretical Implications

This thesis expands the existing theoretical landscape in several meaningful ways. At the core, the research illuminates the nuanced roles of trust, price, and authority as control mechanisms to govern the ECTS-reverse system relationship within the context of recycling and waste management. By providing a detailed examination of these mechanisms, it contributes a novel perspective to governance theory, deepening the understanding of how these mechanisms operate within the reverse supply chain and influence the behavior of the end-consumer-turned-supplier (ECTS).

Moreover, the findings offer valuable insights into the recycling behavior gap and its relation to the role of the ECTS. By providing a comprehensive analysis of this relationship, the thesis enhances how to govern the relationship between the reverse logistic system and the ECTS. The detailed examination of the interplay between trust, price, and authority in shaping recycling behaviors delivers a more nuanced understanding of these complex dynamics.

In addition, the research emphasizes the relatively minimal application of sanctions within the recycling governance. This observation highlights how governance within the context of reverse logistics systems differs to the theory of governance between economic actors. This could lead to a rethinking in governance and control mechanism theory, prompting further examination of the conditions under which sanctions can effectively influence behavior.

Lastly, the thesis offers substantial contributions to theory on sustainable behavior change. By exploring the intricate relationship between the ECTS and the reverse supply chain and the factors that govern recycling behaviors, the research adds depth to the understanding of how to design interventions that successfully promote sustainable practices. This sophisticated understanding of the complex interplay of trust, price, and authority, presented in this thesis, sets a fertile ground for future research in the area of sustainable behavior change.

In these ways, the thesis not only adds new insights to the existing literature but also opens exciting avenues for future theoretical exploration.

6.2 Managerial Implications

The approach to improve recycling rates and achieve the EU's target of 65% recycling by 2035 requires strategic, long-term planning and an effective balance of control mechanisms.

Firstly, the adoption of standardized national waste management and implementation of national regulations is of importance. Despite the challenge in gaining political support, policy makers and waste management organizations should continually advocate for this. They must emphasize the long-term benefits for both environmental conservation and economic prosperity. A clear, nationally standardized system and implementation of national regulations would improve current regional inconsistencies, and would help renovation companies enforce their guidelines, leading to a potential increase in the overall recycling rates.

In parallel with this regulatory standardization, managers in waste management companies should critically reassess their governance. Over-reliance on trust, as the prevailing strategy, appears to yield suboptimal results. A balanced blend of trust, price, and authority mechanisms could lead to improved recycling practices and an increase in sorting rates. Trust retains a vital role in maintaining customer relationships, but the current over dependence on it results in lower recovery rates than other alternatives.

The key to this balanced strategy is strengthening trust-building efforts while also emphasizing authority and price. To make sure everyone follows waste management practices, we suggest exercising authority as needed. Even if direct intervention is occasionally required, the presence of an authority can prevent unwanted behavior. Managers should effectively communicate this dual approach, fostering trust and exerting authority to consumers. In doing so, they highlight the shared responsibility for effective waste management.

Furthermore, with the reported increase in CO2 emissions, a PAYT (Pay-As-You-Throw) system would contribute to making the price more equitable for consumers by adhering to the polluter-pay principle. At the same time, such a variable fee on residual waste would incentivize appropriate behavior. This also requires a good and balanced approach to governance, utilizing trust to inform and encourage system usage, and authority to ensure that everyone follows the same rules and safeguards the integrity of the system.

Given the EU's recycling target, it's clear that isolated projects and short-term strategies are insufficient. Long-term strategic planning is required. Waste management companies should contemplate significant investments in technology, infrastructure, and public education programs to encourage source sorting. Collaborations with policy makers to support beneficial regulations and standards should also form a key aspect of their strategic planning.

By combining national regulations and standardization, PAYT-systems, enforcement measures, and strategic long-term planning, waste management companies can make substantial strides toward achieving the recycling targets set for 2035.

6.3 Future research

Future research should be directed towards further analyzing the potential influence and impact of standardized national waste management regulations on recycling rates. A comparative examination of countries that have already implemented such standards can provide valuable insights into the outcomes of such regulatory measures. This research could serve as the foundation for modeling the possible impact of similar regulations within the Norwegian waste management context.

Additionally, the exploration of the balanced control mechanisms of trust, price, and authority in waste management practices remains a vital area for further study. The aim would be to determine which balance of these mechanisms can yield optimal recycling rates, and how changes or shifts in one mechanism can impact the effectiveness of the others. Detailed empirical investigations are required to fully understand the intricate dynamics among these three key mechanisms. Simultaneously, a thorough examination of the most effective strategies for implementing authority enforcement measures, while maintaining public trust and cooperation, is needed. Research in this area might involve studying successful case studies from different contexts or countries and theoretical investigations of the psychological and sociological factors that shape responses. This knowledge could prove invaluable in developing authoritybased mechanisms that enhance recycling rates without negatively impacting public trust.

Furthermore, further research should be conducted on the impact of a PAYT system on waste generation. In addition to this, a closer examination is needed to determine the optimal characteristics of such a system in Norway in order to achieve maximum effectiveness

Lastly, it is apparent that more minor initiatives may not generate the substantial improvements in recycling rates necessary to meet the EU's target by 2035. Therefore, an examination of long-term strategic planning and investments is needed. This investigation should identify what forms of strategic planning, and the nature of investments, produce the best outcomes. Such research would contribute to an understanding of how to prioritize and allocate resources in the long run to support recycling goals.

Through a comprehensive examination of these interconnected aspects, future research could significantly contribute to the development of effective, sustainable strategies to improve recycling rates.

6.4 Limitations

Sample Size: The sample size for this research was limited to six renovation companies. While this provides insight into diverse geographic locations and waste management systems in Norway, it does not necessarily represent the entirety of municipalities in the country. Hence, the findings from this thesis may lack transferability to the wider context of Norway.

Research Design: While the qualitative design utilized in this thesis has the advantage of providing in-depth insights, it does not capture the quantitative aspects of waste management, such as measuring the exact impact of different recycling strategies. A mixed-methods approach, combining quantitative data with qualitative insights, could be beneficial in future research for a more comprehensive understanding.

Reliance on Self-Reported Data: The data gathered through semi-structured interviews relies heavily on the personal perceptions and experiences of the respondents. This introduces potential bias, as participants might portray their programs in an overly positive light, or they may not be entirely familiar with all the operational details. Future studies could seek to validate the selfreported data with other objective sources of information. Furthermore, as several of the renovation companies have not disclosed their material recycling rate publicly, we rely on the information they provided in the interview.

Interpretation Bias: Inherent in any qualitative research, there's a potential for the researchers' biases to influence how they interpret and represent the information collected during the interviews. Mitigating this bias could involve steps like having multiple researchers independently analyze the data, or involving other stakeholders in the analysis process, ensuring a more balanced interpretation.

Lack of Longitudinal Perspective: The research provides a snapshot of the situation at a specific point in time, and does not consider the potential impact of dynamic changes such as policy revisions, technological advancements, or societal attitude shifts towards recycling. Future research should consider a longitudinal design, tracking the evolution of waste management strategies and their impacts over time. This would offer a more comprehensive understanding of the complexities and dynamics of recycling management within municipalities.

Lack of existing literature: The current literature on trust, price, and authority within the waste management field, particularly in relation to consumer - reverse system relationship, reveals a notable gap. Specifically in terms of

providing comprehensive and concrete definitions and operationalization of the control mechanisms. This presented a limitation to our thesis as we had to extrapolate and refine definitions from available literature. The limitations we faced underscore the need for more rigorous and context-specific studies in this field.

References

Adler, Paul S. (2001). 'Market, Hierarchy, and Trust: The Knowledge Economy and the Future of Capitalism'. *Organization Science* 12, no. 2: 215–34. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3086057

Alzamora, Bruno Ribas, and Raphael Tobias de V. Barros. (2020). 'Review of Municipal Waste Management Charging Methods in Different Countries'. *Waste Management* 115 (1 September 2020): 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2020.07.020.

Anderson, Helén, and Maria Huge Brodin. (2005). 'The Consumer's Changing Role: The Case of Recycling'. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal* 16, no. 1: 77–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14777830510574362</u>.

Arrow, K.1974. The Limits of Organization. New York: Norton

Ashenmiller, Bevin. (2010). 'Externalities from Recycling Laws: Evidence from Crime Rates'. American Law and Economics Review 12, no. 1: 245– 61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aler/ahq001</u>.

Ariely, Dan, Anat Bracha, and Stephan Meier. (2009). 'Doing Good or Doing Well? Image Motivation and Monetary Incentives in Behaving Prosocially'. *The American Economic Review* 99, no. 1: 544–55. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/29730196</u>

A Jalil, Emy Ezura, David B. Grant, John D Nicholson, and Pauline Deutz.
(2016). 'Reverse Logistics in Household Recycling and Waste Systems: A Symbiosis Perspective'. Edited by Marlene Amorim Vikas Kumar Arijit Bhattacharya, Jose Arturo Garza-Reyes. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal* 21, no. 2: 245–58.
https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-02-2015-0056.

- Batllevell, Marta, and Kenneth Hanf.(2008). 'The Fairness of PAYT Systems: Some Guidelines for Decision-Makers'. *Waste Management*, Pay as you throw: a tool fo urban waste management, 28, no. 12:: 2793–2800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2008.02.031</u>.
- Barnes, James H. (1982). 'Recycling: A Problem in Reverse Logistics'. Journal of Macromarketing 2, no. 2: 31–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027614678200200204</u>.
- Blaukopf, Clare L., and Gregory J. DiGirolamo. (2007). 'Reward, Context, and Human Behaviour'. *The Scientific World JOURNAL* 7: 626–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2007.122</u>.
- Beh, Loo-See, Abby Ghobadian, Qile He, David Gallear, and Nicholas O'Regan. (2016). 'Second-Life Retailing: A Reverse Supply Chain Perspective'. Edited by Marlene Amorim Vikas Kumar Arijit Bhattacharya, Jose Arturo Garza-Reyes. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal* 21, no. 2: 259–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-07-2015-0296</u>.
- Bell, Emma, Bill Harley, Alan Bryman, Emma Bell, Bill Harley, and Alan
 Bryman. (2022). *Business Research Methods*. Sixth Edition, Sixth Edition.
 Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press
 <u>https://global.oup.com/ukhe/product/business-research-methods-</u>
 <u>9780198869443?cc=no&lang=en&</u>
- Bénabou, Roland, and Jean Tirole. 'Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation'. (2003). The Review of Economic Studies 70, no. 3: 489–520. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/3648598</u>
- Bénabou, Roland, and Jean Tirole. (2006). 'Incentives and Prosocial Behavior'. *The American Economic Review* 96, no. 5: 1652–78. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/30034989</u>.

- Bernstad, Anna. (2014). 'Household Food Waste Separation Behavior and the Importance of Convenience'. Waste Management 34, no. 7: 1317–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2014.03.013</u>.
- Bettis, Richard A. (1980). 'Decentralization, Managerial Ambiguity by Design, Richard F. Vancil Dow Jones-Irwin, Homewood Illinois, 1979. No. of Pages: 393. Price: \$21.85'. *Strategic Management Journal* 1, no. 1: 99– 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250010110</u>
- Bianchi, Robin. (2022). 'Warm-Glow Effects and Warm-Glow Explanations: Does the Warm Glow from Giving Provide an Answer to the Question of Why People Give?',

https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.29382.34889.

Bradach, Jeffrey L., and Robert G. Eccles. (1989). 'Price, Authority, and Trust:
From Ideal Types to Plural Forms'. *Annual Review of Sociology* 15: 97–118. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2083220</u>

Bretherton, C., & Vogler, J. (2000). The European Union as Trade Actor and Environmental Activist: Contradictory Roles? *Journal of Economic Integration*, 15(2), 163–194. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23000497</u>

- Brodin, Maria Huge, and Anderson, Helén. (2008). 'Recycling Calls for Revaluation'. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal 13, no. 1: 9–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810850274</u>.
- Bing, Xiaoyun, Jacqueline M. Bloemhof-Ruwaard, and Jack G. A. J. van der Vorst. (2014). 'Sustainable Reverse Logistics Network Design for Household Plastic Waste'. *Flexible Services and Manufacturing Journal* 26, no. 1: 119–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10696-012-9149-0</u>.
- Breetz, Hanna L., Karen Fisher-Vanden, Hannah Jacobs, and Claire Schary.
 (2005). 'Trust and Communication: Mechanisms for Increasing Farmers' Participation in Water Quality Trading'. *Land Economics* 81, no. 2: 170– 90. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4129663

- Brown, Zachary S., and Nick Johnstone. (2014). 'Better the Devil You Throw: Experience and Support for Pay-as-You-Throw Waste Charges'. *Environmental Science & Policy* 38: 132–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2013.11.007</u>.
- Campbell, Steve, Melanie Greenwood, Sarah Prior, Toniele Shearer, Kerrie Walkem, Sarah Young, Danielle Bywaters, and Kim Walker.
 (2020.) 'Purposive Sampling: Complex or Simple? Research Case Examples'. *Journal of Research in Nursing* 25, no. 8: 652–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206.
- 'CGR 2023'. Accessed 2 July 2023. https://www.circularity-gap.world/2023.
- Coase, R. H. (1937). 'The Nature of the Firm'. *Economica* 4, no. 16: 386–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0335.1937.tb00002.x</u>.
- DAERA. 'Reforming the UK Packaging Producer Responsibility System | Department of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs', 19 February 2019.<u>https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations/reforming-uk-packagingproducer-responsibility-system</u>.
- Dahlén, Lisa, and Anders Lagerkvist. (2010). 'Pay as You Throw: Strengths and Weaknesses of Weight-Based Billing in Household Waste Collection Systems in Sweden'. *Waste Management* 30, no. 1: 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2009.09.022.
- De los Rios, Irel Carolina, and Fiona J. S. Charnley. (2017). 'Skills and Capabilities for a Sustainable and Circular Economy: The Changing Role of Design'. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Multinational Enterprises' strategic dynamics and climate change: drivers, barriers and impacts of necessary organisational change, 160: 109–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.130</u>.
- Deo Pentayya, NHS Sustainability Unit. (2013). Trust waste management policy. Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust.

https://media.gosh.nhs.uk/documents/Trust_Waste_Management_Policy.p df

Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives (Text with EEA relevance), 312 OJ L § (2008). http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2008/98/oj/eng.

Drimili, Efi.(2020). Public Views and Attitudes about Municipal Waste Management: Empirical Evidence from Athens, Greece - Efi Drimili, Ruth Herrero-Martin, Juan Suardiaz-Muro, Efthimios Zervas,. Accessed 2 July 2023. <u>https://journals-sagepub-</u> com.ezproxy.library.bi.no/doi/full/10.1177/0734242X20911708.

Druckman, N. J., Green, P. D., Kuklinski, H. J. & Lupia, A.
(2011). Cambridge Handbook of Experimental Political Science.
Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511921452</u>.

- Eccles, Robert G. (1981). 'The Quasifirm in the Construction Industry'. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 2, no. 4 (1 December 1981): 335–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2681(81)90013-5</u>.
- Emmanouil, Christina, Kalliopi Papadopoulou, Iliana Papamichael, and Antonis A. Zorpas. (2022). 'Pay-as-You-Throw (PAYT) for Municipal Solid Waste Management in Greece: On Public Opinion and Acceptance'. Sustainability 14, no. 22: 15429. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142215429
- Esain, Ann Elizabeth, James Aitken, Sharon Jayne Williams, and Maneesh Kumar. (2016). 'Reverse Exchange: Classifications for Public Service SCM'. Edited by Marlene Amorim Vikas Kumar Arijit Bhattacharya, Jose Arturo Garza-Reyes. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal 21, no. 2: 216–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-01-2015-0041</u>.

Evison, Tom, and Adam D. Read.(2001). 'Local Authority Recycling and Waste — Awareness Publicity/Promotion'. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 32, no. 3: 275–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-3449(01)00066-0.

Farrow, Katherine, Gilles Grolleau, and Lisette Ibanez. (2017). 'Social Norms and Pro-Environmental Behavior: A Review of the Evidence'. *Ecological Economics* 140: 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.04.017.

Ferrara, Ida, and Paul Missios. (2012). 'A Cross-Country Study of Household Waste Prevention and Recycling: Assessing the Effectiveness of Policy Instruments'. *Land Economics* 88, no. 4: 710–44. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23272668</u>

Fiona Fylan, (2005). A Handbook of Research Methods for Clinical and Health Psychology. New York : Oxford University Press. <u>http://archive.org/details/handbookofresear0000unse_t1c7</u>.

Flygansvær, Bente, Asta Gjetø Samuelsen, and Rebecka Våge Støyle. (2021). 'The Power of Nudging: How Adaptations in Reverse Logistics Systems Can Improve End-Consumer Recycling Behavior'. *International Journal* of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management 51, no. 9: 958–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-12-2020-0389</u>.

Fleischmann, Mortiz, Hans Ronald Krikke, Rommert Dekker, and Simme Douwe P. Flapper. (2000). 'A Characterisation of Logistics Networks for Product Recovery'. *Omega* 28, no. 6: 653–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0483(00)00022-0</u>. Fluet, Claude, and Murat C. Mungan. (2022). 'Laws and Norms with (Un)Observable Actions'. *European Economic Review* 145: 104129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2022.104129</u>.

- Folz, David H., and Jacqueline N. Giles. (2002). 'Municipal Experience with "Pay-as-You-Throw" Policies: Findings from a National Survey'. *State & Local Government Review* 34, no. 2: 105–15. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/4355311</u>
- Gambetta, D.1988. "Can we trust trust?" In Trust: Making and BreakingCooperative Relations, ed. D. Gambetta. New York: Blackwell, cited inBradach & Eccles
- Halldórsson, Árni, Ceren Altuntas Vural, and Jessica Wehner. 'Logistics Service Triad for Household Waste: Consumers as Co-Producers of Sustainability'. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management* 49, no. 4 (2019): 398–415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-02-2019-0065</u>.
- Haugland, Sven A., and Torger Reve. (1994). 'Price, Authority and Trust in International Distribution Channel Relationships'. *Scandinavian Journal* of Management 10, no. 3: 225–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-5221(94)90001-9.
- He, Qile, Abby Ghobadian, David Gallear, Loo-See Beh, and Nicholas
 O'Regan. (2016). 'Towards Conceptualizing Reverse Service Supply
 Chains'. Edited by Marlene Amorim Vikas Kumar Arijit Bhattacharya,
 Jose Arturo Garza-Reyes. Supply Chain Management: An International
 Journal 21, no. 2 (1 January 2016): 166–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-01-2015-0035</u>.
- Heineman, Robert A. (1984). 'The Logic and Limits of Trust. By Bernard Barber. (New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press, 1983. Pp. 190.

9.95, Paper.)'. *American Political Science Review* 78, no. 1: 209–10. https://doi.org/10.2307/1961263.

- Heller, Marit H., and Arild Vatn. (2017). 'The Divisive and Disruptive Effect of a Weight-Based Waste Fee'. *Ecological Economics* 131: 275–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.09.002</u>.
- Holmstrom, Bengt, and Paul Milgrom. (1991). 'Multitask Principal-Agent
 Analyses: Incentive Contracts, Asset Ownership, and Job Design'. *Journal* of Law, Economics, & Organization 7: 24–52.
 <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/764957</u>
- Huber, Joel, W. Kip Viscusi, and Jason Bell. (2018). 'Dynamic Relationships between Social Norms and Pro-Environmental Behavior: Evidence from Household Recycling'. *Behavioural Public Policy* 4, no. 1: 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2017.13</u>.
- Ishimura, Yuichi. (2022). 'The Effects of the Containers and Packaging Recycling Law on the Domestic Recycling of Plastic Waste: Evidence from Japan'. *Ecological Economics* 201: 107535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2022.107535</u>.
- Jahre, Marianne. (1995). 'Household Waste Collection as a Reverse Channel -A Theoretical Perspective'. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management 25, no. 2: 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09600039510757666</u>.
- Jin, Youliang, Zheng Tang, Qiong Zhou, Huixiang Zeng, and Shaowan Mo.(2020). 'A Government Value Compensation Model of Waste Recycling in an Industrial Park: A Game Theory Approach'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 275: 122976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122976.

- Johansson, K. (2016). 'Understanding Recycling Behavior: A Study of Motivational Factors behind Waste Recycling', 401–14. Valencia, Spain. <u>https://doi.org/10.2495/WM160361</u>.
- Kallio, Hanna, Anna-Maija Pietilä, Martin Johnson, and Mari Kangasniemi.
 (2016). 'Systematic Methodological Review: Developing a Framework for a Qualitative Semi-Structured Interview Guide'. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 72, no. 12: 2954–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031.
- Kamenica, Emir. (2012). 'Behavioral Economics and Psychology of Incentives'. Annual Review of Economics 4, no. 1: 427–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-080511-110909</u>.
- Khan, Shakil, and Hanna Maoh. (2022). 'Investigating Attitudes towards Fleet Electrification – An Exploratory Analysis Approach'. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 162: 188–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2022.05.009.
- Kind, A. (2001). [Review of *The Construction of Social Reality*, by J. R. Searle]. *Social Theory and Practice*, 27(2), 345–351. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23562069</u>
- Korhonen, Jouni, Antero Honkasalo, and Jyri Seppälä. (2018). 'Circular Economy: The Concept and Its Limitations'. *Ecological Economics* 143: 37–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.06.041</u>.
- Lakshmi, S and Dr M. Akbar Mohideen. (2013). 'ISSUES IN RELIABILITYAND VALIDITY OF RESEARCH - ProQuest'. Accessed 1 July 2023. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1415612380</u>.

Lazear, Edward P. (2000). 'Performance Pay and Productivity'. American Economic Review 90, no. 5: 1346–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.90.5.1346</u>.

- Lewis, J. David, and Andrew Weigert. (1985). 'Trust as a Social Reality'. *Social Forces* 63, no. 4: 967–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/63.4.967</u>.
- Luhmann, Niklas Trust and Power-John Wiley & Sons Inc (1982) 2 PDF | PDF Accessed 2 July 2023. <u>https://www.scribd.com/document/402446951/Niklas-Luhmann-Trust-</u> and-Power-John-Wiley-Sons-Inc-1982-2-pdf.
- Ma, Zu-Jun, Shu Hu, Ying Dai, and Yu-Sen Ye. (2016). 'Pay-as-You-Throw versus Recycling Fund System in Closed-Loop Supply Chains with Alliance Recycling'. *International Transactions in Operational Research* 25, no. 6 (2018): 1811–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/itor.12278</u>.
- MacNeil, Ian R. (1980). 'Power, Contract, and the Economic Model'. *Journal* of Economic Issues 14, no. 4: 909–23. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4224972
- Magaldi, Danielle, and Matthew Berler. (2020). 'Semi-Structured Interviews'.
 In *Encyclopedia of Personality and Individual Differences*, edited by
 Virgil Zeigler-Hill and Todd K. Shackelford, 4825–30. Cham: Springer
 International Publishing.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24612-3_857.

Martin, M., I. D. Williams, and M. Clark. (2006). 'Social, Cultural and Structural Influences on Household Waste Recycling: A Case Study'. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 48, no. 4: 357–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2005.09.005</u>.

McCombes, Shona. (2021). 'What Is a Research Design | Types, Guide & Examples'. Scribbr. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/research-design/.

Mintz, Kaplan, Keren, and Jenny Kurman. (2020). 'A Cross-Cultural Perspective on Facilitators of Recycling'. *Environment, Development and* *Sustainability* 22, no. 7: 6627–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-019-00503-4.

- Miljødepartementet, Klima-og. 'Strengere krav til kildesortering av avfall'. Nyhet. Regjeringen.no. regjeringen.no, 7 June 2022. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/aktuelt/strengere-krav-til-kildesortering-av-avfall/id2917708/</u>.
- Monnot, Elisa, Fanny Reniou, and Aurélien Rouquet. (2014). 'Recycling Household Waste: A Classification of the Logistics Used by Consumers'. *Recherche et Applications En Marketing* 29: 74–98.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2051570714540553</u>.
- Morlok, Juergen, Harald Schoenberger, David Styles, Jose-Luis Galvez-Martos, and Barbara Zeschmar-Lahl. (2017). 'The Impact of Pay-As-You-Throw Schemes on Municipal Solid Waste Management: The Exemplar Case of the County of Aschaffenburg, Germany'. *Resources* 6, no. 1: 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/resources6010008</u>.
- 'National Waste Policy DCCEEW'. Accessed 2 July 2023. https://www.dcceew.gov.au/environment/protection/waste/how-wemanage-waste/national-waste-policy.
- Noorasikin, M. M., Maisarah Ahmad, Y. Mashitoh, and A. Khairul Akmaliah. (2018). 'Ethical Consumer Perceived Value in Sustaining Recycling Behaviour'. SHS Web of Conferences 56: 01003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20185601003</u>.
- Oslo kommune. (2017). Fact sheet: Optical sorting of household waste. Retrieved from <u>https://www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/134919-</u> <u>1498479186/Tjenester%20og%20tilbud/Avfall%20og%20gjenvinning/Be</u> <u>handlingsanlegg%20for%20avfall/Fact_sheet-</u> <u>Optical_sorting_of_household_waste.pdf</u>

- Page, J. R., & Hooper, H. P. (1981). [Review of *Management Control Systems*, by R. N. Anthony & J. Dearden]. *The Accounting Review*, 56(2), 410–411. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/245826</u>
- Parsons, Talcott. (1963). 'On the Concept of Political Power'. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society* 107, no. 3: 232–62. <u>https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.library.bi.no/stable/985582?sid=primo</u>
- Pedersen, Jiesper Tristan Strandsbjerg, and Halaze Manhice. (2020). 'The Hidden Dynamics of Household Waste Separation: An Anthropological Analysis of User Commitment, Barriers, and the Gaps between a Waste System and Its Users'. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 242: 116285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.281.
- Pollans, Lily Baum. 'What Is Pay-as-You-Throw? A Waste Expert Explains'. The Conversation, 4 January 2022. <u>http://theconversation.com/what-is-pay-as-you-throw-a-waste-expert-explains-173828</u>.
- Prendergast, Canice. (1999)'The Provision of Incentives in Firms'. Journal of Economic Literature 37, no. 1: 7–63. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2564725</u>
- Research-Methodology. 'Deductive Approach (Deductive Reasoning)'. Accessed 2 July 2023. <u>https://research-methodology.net/research-methodology/research-approach/deductive-approach-2/</u>.
- Reuters. 'EXPLAINER-Pandemic Behaviour: Why Some People Don't Play by the Rules'. 13 August 2020, sec. Healthcare Sector. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/health-coronavirus-behavioral-scienceidINL8N2FE4VY</u>.
- Rock, David. 'Managing with the Brain in Mind'. Strategy+business. Accessed 1 July 2023. <u>https://www.strategy-business.com/article/09306</u>.

- Rousta, Kamran, Kim Bolton, Magnus Lundin, and Lisa Dahlén. 'Quantitative Assessment of Distance to Collection Point and Improved Sorting Information on Source Separation of Household Waste'. *Waste Management* 40 (1 June 2015): 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.03.005.
- Salkind, Neil. *Encyclopedia of Research Design*. Thousand Oaks, California, 2010. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288</u>.
- Sassoli de Bianchi, Massimiliano. (2013). 'The Observer Effect'. Foundations of Science 18, no. 2: 213–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10699-012-9298-3.
- Schultz, Kenneth L., David C. Juran, and John W. Boudreau. (1999). 'The Effects of Low Inventory on the Development of Productivity Norms'. *Management Science* 45, no. 12: 1664–78. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2634784
- Schütz, John Howard. (2007). Paul and the Anatomy of Apostolic Authority. The New Testament Library. Louisville, Ky: Westminster John Knox Press.

https://library.mibckerala.org/lms_frame/eBook/Paul%20and%20the%20 Anatomy%20of%20Apostol%20-%20John%20Howard%20Schutz.pdf

- Scrima, Fabrizio, Liliane Rioux, and Giovanni Di Stefano.(2017). 'I Hate My Workplace but I Am Very Attached to It: Workplace Attachment Style: An Exploratory Approach'. *Personnel Review* 46, no. 5: 936–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-05-2015-0128</u>.
- Shaw, P. J., and S. J. Maynard. (2008). 'The Potential of Financial Incentives to Enhance Householders' Kerbside Recycling Behaviour'. Waste Management 28, no. 10: 1732–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2007.08.008</u>.

- Shrum, L., Tina Lowrey, and John McCarty. (1994). 'Recycling as a Marketing Problem: A Framework for Strategy Development'. *Psychology and Marketing* 11: 393–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.4220110407</u>
- Simmel, Georg. 'The Philosophy of Money: Third Enlarged Edition', 2004 <u>https://www.routledge.com/The-Philosophy-of-Money/Frisby-</u> Simmel/p/book/9780415341721.
- SSB. 'Waste from Households'. Accessed 1 July 2023. https://www.ssb.no/en/natur-og-miljo/avfall/statistikk/avfall-fra-hushalda.
- Stoknes, P.E. (2015), What We Think about when We Try Not to Think about Global Warming: Toward a New Psychology of Climate Action, Chelsea Green Publishing <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280683963_What_We_Think_A bout_When_We_Try_Not_To_Think_About_Global_Warming</u>
- Streeck, Wolfgang, and Philippe C. Schmitter. (1985). 'Community, Market, State-and Associations? The Prospective Contribution of Interest Governance to Social Order'. *European Sociological Review* 1, no. 2: 119–38. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/522410</u>.
- Thaler, Richard H., and Cass R. Sunstein. (2008). Nudge: Improving Decisions about Health, Wealth, and Happiness. New Haven, USA, UNITED STATES: Yale University Press. <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/bilibrary/detail.action?docID=465404</u> <u>3</u>.
- Thyer, Bruce. 'Quasi-Experimental Research Designs'. *Quasi-Experimental Research Designs*, 2 February 2012, 1–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195387384.001.0001</u>.
- Titmuss, R. M. (1971). The Gift Relationship: From Human Blood to Social Policy. Vintage. <u>https://www.perlego.com/book/1657804/the-gift-</u> <u>relationship-from-human-blood-to-social-policy-pdf</u>.

- Tudor, Terry, Stewart Barr, and Andrew Gilg. (2007). 'A Tale of Two Locational Settings: Is There a Link between pro-Environmental Behaviour at Work and at Home?' In *Local Environment*, 409–21. Local Environment.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13549830701412513</u>.
- Tudor, T. L., S. W. Barr, and A. W. Gilg. (2007). 'Linking Intended Behaviour and Actions: A Case Study of Healthcare Waste Management in the Cornwall NHS'. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 51, no. 1: 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2006.06.009</u>.
- Victoria, Environment Protection Authority. 'Household Waste | Environment Protection Authority Victoria'. Text. Environment Protection Authority Victoria. Accessed 2 July 2023. <u>https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/for-</u> community/environmental-information/household-waste.
- Viscusi, W. K., J. Huber, J. Bell, and C. Cecot. (2013). 'Discontinuous Behavioral Responses to Recycling Laws and Plastic Water Bottle Deposits'. *American Law and Economics Review* 15, no. 1: 110–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aler/aht005</u>.
- Viscusi, W. K., Huber, J., & Bell, J. (2014). Private Recycling Values, Social Norms, and Legal Rules. *Revue d'économie Politique*, 124(2), 159–178. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/43860156</u>

Viscusi, W. Kip, Joel Huber, and Jason Bell. (2011). 'Promoting Recycling: Private Values, Social Norms, and Economic Incentives'. *American Economic Review* 101, no. 3: 65–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.101.3.65</u>.

- Viscusi, W Kip, Joel Huber, and Jason Bell. (2023). 'Quasi-Experimental Evidence on the Impact of State Recycling and Deposit Laws: Household Recycling Following Interstate Moves'. *American Law and Economics Review* 24, no. 2: 614–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aler/ahac006</u>.
- Volschenk, Liza, Kotie Viljoen, and Catherina Schenck. (2021). 'Socio-Economic Factors Affecting Household Participation in Curb-Side

Recycling Programmes : Evidence from Drakenstein Municipality, South Africa'. *African Journal of Business and Economic Research* 16, no. 1: 143–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562/2021/v16n1a6</u>.

- Wallen, Kenneth E., and Chelsie L. Romulo. (2017). 'Social Norms: More Details, Please'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114, no. 27: E5283–84.
 <u>https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.library.bi.no/stable/26485368?sid=primo</u>
- Wallimann, Isidor, Nicholas Ch. Tatsis, and George V. Zito. (1977). 'On Max Weber's Definition of Power'. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal* of Sociology 13, no. 3: 231–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/144078337701300308</u>.
- Waste, My. 'Household Waste Bye Laws'. *Mywaste* (blog), 10 April 2019. <u>https://www.mywaste.ie/my-household-waste-bye-laws/</u>.
- Werf, Paul van der, Kristian Larsen, Jamie A. Seabrook, and Jason Gilliland.
 (2020). 'How Neighbourhood Food Environments and a Pay-as-You-Throw (PAYT) Waste Program Impact Household Food Waste Disposal in the City of Toronto'. *Sustainability* 12, no. 17: 7016.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12177016</u>.
- Whitmarsh, Lorraine E., Paul Haggar, and Merryn Thomas. (2018). 'Waste Reduction Behaviors at Home, at Work, and on Holiday: What Influences Behavioral Consistency Across Contexts?' *Frontiers in Psychology* 9. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02447</u>.
- Williamson, Oliver E. (1985). 'The Economic Institutions of Capitalism: Firms, Markets, Relational Contracting'. SSRN Scholarly Paper. Rochester, NY.<u>https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1496720</u>.
- Williamson (1991)'Comparative Economic Organization: The Analysis of Discrete Structural Alternatives on JSTOR'. Accessed 1 July 2023.

https://www-jstor-

org.ezproxy.library.bi.no/stable/2393356?sid=primo&origin=crossref.

- Xiao, Shijiang, Huijuan Dong, Yong Geng, Medel-Jimenez Francisco, Hengyu Pan, and Fei Wu. (2020). 'An Overview of the Municipal Solid Waste Management Modes and Innovations in Shanghai, China'. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 27, no. 24: 29943–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-09398-5</u>.
- Xie, Ying, and Liz Breen. (2014). 'Who Cares Wins? A Comparative Analysis of Household Waste Medicines and Batteries Reverse Logistics Systems: The Case of the NHS (UK)'. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal 19, no. 4: 455–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-07-2013-0255</u>.
- Zhang, Zhijian, and Xueyuan Wang. (2020). 'Nudging to Promote Household Waste Source Separation: Mechanisms and Spillover Effects'. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 162: 105054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105054</u>.
- Zikmund, William G., and William J. Stanton. (1971). 'Recycling Solid Wastes: A Channels-of-Distribution Problem'. *Journal of Marketing* 35, no. 3 34–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224297103500306</u>.

Appendix

Interview guide

-What is your perspective on the consumer? (Willingness to recycle, trust, knowledge, etc.). Characteristics of the consumer.

-How do you measure and evaluate the effectiveness of your recycling program?

-How has the recycling rate of the population changed while you have been working there? (Recycling trend).

Trust:

a. How do you build trust among residents regarding the recycling system?

- → Do you feel that residents trust that their waste is being handled correctly?
- · b. How much trust do you have in the consumer? (Recycling rate, recycling habits)
- \rightarrow Why or why not?

c. How significant do you think social norms, social pressure, and mutual trust between the consumer and the system play a role in recycling behavior?

→ Have you observed a change in the population's attitude towards recycling in recent years?

 d. What measures are in place to engage residents in promoting trust, creating norms, and encouraging active participation in the recycling system?

→ Are there any initiatives in educational or workplace settings - social initiatives or campaigns?

Price:

• a. How is the pricing structure for waste management and recycling services determined?

*** Does the cost associated with poor recycling fall on the municipality, or is it reflected in higher waste management costs for consumers? ***

· b. Are there any financial incentives in place to encourage residents to recycle?

. c. How has this pricing (and any incentives) affected the recycling rate and general waste reduction efforts?

Authority:

- · a. Are there any laws in place that give you the authority to enforce recycling rules?
- → If so, what fines and/or sanctions are involved?
- → If so, is this implemented in practice? Why or why not?
- · b. What mechanisms/authorities are in place to monitor compliance and enforce recycling rules?
- c. How do they contribute to improving the recycling rate?

Miscellaneous questions:

What (other) measures has the municipality implemented to increase the recycling rate among residents?

→ To what extent has this influenced the recycling rate?

- \rightarrow Data?
- → In light of everything we have discussed, which mechanism is most prominent in the specific municipality? (Trust, price, or authority)?
- → What future developments do you anticipate for waste management in your municipality?
- → How do you envision recycling rules, norms, and similar aspects in the future?

NOTE:

These questions are only meant as a guidance and depending on the flow of the conversation.